
PLEASE SILENCE ALL CELL PHONE AND ELECTRONIC DEVICES.
THANK YOU.

1. Meeting Information
207 Muegge Way, Bennett, CO 80102

For a live stream of the meeting use the information below:

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84285000718

Meeting ID: 842 8500 0718

Passcode: 677682

One tap mobile
+16699006833

2. Call to Order
Whitney Oakley, Mayor

a. Roll Call
3. Pledge of Allegiance

Whitney Oakley, Mayor

4. Approval of Agenda
Whitney Oakley, Mayor

5. Consent Agenda
Whitney Oakley, Mayor

a. July 9, 2024 - Regular Meeting Minutes

Attachments:

July 9, 2024 - Regular Meeting Minutes  (July_9__2024_-_Regular_Meeting_Minutes.
pdf)

b. 2023 Town of Bennett Audit
Resolution No. 1019-24 - A Resolution Accepting the 2023 Audit for the Town of Bennett

Attachments:

2023 Town of Bennett Required Communication Letter  (0_-_Management_letter.pdf
)

Town Board of Trustees
Tuesday, July 23, 2024 at 7:00 pm
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2023 Town of Bennett Financial Statements (1_-_Draft.07.11.24_Financial_Statemen
ts.pdf)
2023 Town of Bennett Single Audit Corrective Action Plan Letter  (2_-_CAP_2023_
Final.pdf)
2023 Town of Bennett Federal Financial Assistance Single Audit Reports  (3_-_sing
le_audit_reports.final.pdf)
Resolution No. 1019-24 - A Resolution Accepting the 2023 Audit for the Town of B
ennett (4_-_RESOLUTION__1_.pdf)

c. Colorado Opioids Settlement Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) - New National
Opioids Settlement: Kroger

Attachments:

Approved - August 25, 2021 Attorney General version Colorado Opioids Settleme
nt Memorandum of Understanding ("MOU") (2021-08-05_-_Attorney_General_Versio
n.pdf)
Approved - Resolution No. 892-21 - A Resolution Approving the Colorado Opioids
Settlement Memorandum of Understanding and Other Documents Necessary for t
he Town's Participation in Pending Opioids Settlements (No._892-21_-_Approving_
the_Colorado_Opioids_Settlement_Memorandum_of_Understanding_and_other_Docu
ments_Necessary_for_the_Town_s_Participation_in_Pending_Opioids_Settlements.pdf
)
Colorado Opioids Settlement Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) - New Nation
al Opioids Settlement: Kroger (2_-_Action_Required_Kroger_National_Opioid_Settl.p
df)

Public Comments on Items Not Scheduled for Public Hearing
The Board of Trustees welcomes you. Thank you for joining us for our Town of Bennett Board of
Trustees Meeting. If you are not speaking, we ask that you please mute your microphone. For public
comment please sign up on the provided sheet or in the chat box. If you are on the phone, once we
get through the sign-up sheet and chat box we will call for any other comments for items not on the
agenda.

Your comments will be limited to three (3) minutes. The Board may not respond to your comments
this evening, rather they may take your comments and suggestions under advisement and provide
direction to the appropriate member of Town staff for follow-up. Thank you.

Regular Business

6. Action/Discussion Items
a. Bennett Gives Back Awards

Danette Ruvalcaba, Director of Finance

Whitney Oakley, Mayor
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b. Safety Building Change Orders
Trish Stiles, Town Manager

Click on the link below to view the Safety Building Change Orders Dashboard:

https://app.smartsheet.com/sheets/xqXpChP6VVRXcp69cWj6PHCR3Ffq86pRfh2H6w21?
view=grid

Attachments:

Staff Report Safety Building Change Orders (0_-_Staff_Report.pdf)
Suggested Motion (suggested_motion.pdf)

c. Request to Waive RFP for Security and Access Control at Safety Building
Alison Belcher, Communications and IT Director

Attachments:

Staff Report Request to Waive RFP for Security and Access Control at Safety Buil
ding (0_-_TownofBennett_StaffReport_SafetyBuildingSecurity.pdf)
Town of Bennett - Safety Building Security Proposal  (Town_of_Bennett_-_Bennett_
CO_-_Safety_Building_Security_Q_P0021302.pdf)
Suggested Motion (suggested_motion.pdf)

7. Town Manager Report
Trish Stiles, Town Manager

8. Trustee Comments and Committee Reports
Mayor and Trustees

9. Adjournment

Individuals with disabilities who need auxiliary aids in attending the meeting may request assistance
by contacting the Town Hall at 207 Muegge Way, Bennett, CO 80102-7806, (303) 644-3249. Please
give notice at least 48 hours in advance of the meeting to allow for enough time in making the
necessary arrangements.

Contact: Christina Hart (chart@bennett.co.us 1303-644-3249 X1001) | Agenda published on 07/19/2024 at 4:05 PM

Page 3Page 3Page 3Page 3Page 3Page 3Page 3Page 3Page 3Page 3Page 3Page 3Page 3Page 3Page 3

https://app.smartsheet.com/sheets/xqXpChP6VVRXcp69cWj6PHCR3Ffq86pRfh2H6w21?view=grid


PLEASE SILENCE ALL CELL PHONE AND ELECTRONIC DEVICES.
THANK YOU.

1. Meeting Information
207 Muegge Way, Bennett, CO 80102

2. Call to Order
Whitney Oakley, Mayor

a. Roll Call

Minutes:
Present:
Whitney Oakley, Mayor
Kevin Barden, Mayor Pro Tem
Steve Dambroski, Trustee
Denice Smith, Trustee
Donna Sus, Trustee
Royce D. Pindell, Trustee
Larry Vittum, Trustee - excused

 
Staff Present:
Trish Stiles, Town Manager
Rachel Summers, Deputy Town Manager
Danette Ruvalcaba, Director of Finance
Adam Meis, IT and Communications Manager
Robin Price, Public Works Director
Dan Giroux, Town Engineer
Daniel Pershing, Town Engineer
Steven Hoese, Planning Manager
Michael Heugh, Town Traffic Engineer
Tiffany Chaput, Communications Coordinator
Alison Belcher, Communications and IT Director
Savannah Chapa Vickery, Community Development Manager
Greg Thompson, Community Development Director
Scott Krob, Town Attorney

Town Board of Trustees
Minutes

Tuesday, July 9, 2024 at 7:00 pm
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Christina Hart, Town Clerk
 
Public Present:
Kathy Smiley
Diane Moler
Larry Gayeski
Matt Thomas
Michelle Gayeski
John Vitella
Mason Oakley
Jim Marshall

3. Pledge of Allegiance
Whitney Oakley, Mayor

Minutes:
The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Whitney Oakley, Mayor.

4. Approval of Agenda
Whitney Oakley, Mayor

Minutes:
TRUSTEE PINDELL MOVED, TRUSTEE DAMBROSKI SECONDED to approve the agenda as
amended, removing Item 7. c. Ordinance No. 783-24 from the agenda. The voting was as follows:
Ayes: Dambroski, Oakley, Pindell, Smith, Sus, Barden
Nays: None
Excused: Vittum
Whitney Oakley, Mayor, declared the motion carried by unanimous vote.

5. Consent Agenda
Whitney Oakley, Mayor

Minutes:
TRUSTEE PINDELL MOVED, MAYOR PRO TEM BARDEN SECONDED to approve the consent
agenda as amended by adding item 7. d. Highway 79 Permanent Trail Construction Phase II to
the consent agenda. The voting was as follows:
Ayes: Oakley, Pindell, Smith, Sus, Barden, Dambroski
Nays: None
Excused: Vittum
Whitney Oakley, Mayor, declared the motion carried by unanimous vote. 1. Action: Approval of
June 25, 2024, Regular Meeting Minutes 2. Action: Permanent Trail Construction Phase II -
Additional Board Pricing Request
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS NOT ON THE AGENDA
Diane Moler, 595 Grant Avenue, Ms. Moler commented on the Sales Tax Oversight Committee
status and when the committee would reconvene.

a. June 25, 2024 - Regular Meeting Minutes
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Public Comments on Items Not Scheduled for Public Hearing
The Board of Trustees welcomes you. Thank you for joining us for our Town of Bennett Board of
Trustees Meeting. If you are not speaking, we ask that you please mute your microphone. For public
comment please sign up on the provided sheet or in the chat box. If you are on the phone, once we
get through the sign-up sheet and chat box we will call for any other comments for items not on the
agenda.

Your comments will be limited to three (3) minutes. The Board may not respond to your comments
this evening, rather they may take your comments and suggestions under advisement and provide
direction to the appropriate member of Town staff for follow-up. Thank you.

Regular Business

6. Public Hearing
a. Bennett Crossing Filing No. 5 Final Plat - Case No. PZ2024-0010

Resolution No. 1017-24 - A Resolution Approving a Final Plat for Bennett Crossing Filing No. 5

Minutes:
Whitney Oakley, Mayor, called the matter of the Bennett Crossing Filing No. 5 Final Plat -
Case No. PZ2024-0010 to order.
 
The public hearing was opened at 7:07 p.m.
 
Christina Hart, Town Clerk, stated that, in accordance with the Colorado state statute, it was
duly posted and published in the Eastern Colorado News on Friday, May 31, 2024. Legal
#2928.
 
Greg Thompson, Community Development Director, presented the Bennett Crossing Filing
No. 5 Final Plat - Case No. PZ2024-0010 Trustees.
 
There were no public comments presented.
 
The public hearing was closed at 7:26 p.m.
 
TRUSTEE DAMBROSKI MOVED, TRUSTEE SMITH SECONDED to approve Resolution
No.1017-24 - A resolution approving a Final Plat for Bennett Crossing Filing No. 5 The
voting was as follows:
Ayes: Pindell, Smith, Sus, Barden, Dambroski, Oakley
Nays: None
Excused: Vittum
Whitney Oakley, Mayor, declared the motion carried by unanimous vote.

b. Chapter 16, Article II, Division 7 - Landscape Standards Update
Ordinance No. 782-24 - An Ordinance Repealing and Reenacting, with Amendments, Chapter 16 Article II Division 7 of
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the Bennett Municipal Code Concerning Landscape Standards

Minutes:
Whitney Oakley, Mayor, called the matter of Chapter 16, Article II, Division 7 - Landscape
Standards Update to order.
 
The public hearing was opened at 7:29 p.m.
 
Christina Hart, Town Clerk, stated that, in accordance with the Colorado state statute, it was
duly posted and published in the Eastern Colorado News on Friday, May 31, 2024. Legal
#2929.
 
Steven Hoese, Planning Manager, presented Chapter 16, Article II, Division 7 - Landscape
Standards Update to the Trustees.
 
There were no public comments presented.
 
The public hearing was closed at 7:47 p.m.
 
TRUSTEE SMITH MOVED, TRUSTEE SUS SECONDED to approve Ordinance No. 782-24
- An ordinance repealing and reenacting, with amendments, Chapter 16 Article II Division 7
of the Bennett Municipal Code concerning landscape standards. The voting was as follows:
Ayes: Smith, Sus, Barden, Dambroski, Oakley, Pindell
Nays: None
Excused: Vittum
Whitney Oakley, Mayor, declared the motion carried by unanimous vote.

c. Mount View Cemetery Zoning
Ordinance No. 784-24 - An Ordinance Approving P-Public Zoning for the Mount View Cemetery Annexation to the
Town of Bennett, Colorado

Minutes:
Whitney Oakley, Mayor, called the matter of the Mount View Cemetery Zoning to order.
 
The public hearing was opened at 7:48 p.m.
 
Christina Hart, Town Clerk, stated that, in accordance with the Colorado state statute, it was
duly posted and published in the Eastern Colorado News on Friday, May 31, 2024. Legal
#2931.
 
Greg Thompson, Community Development Director, presented the Mount View Cemetery
Zoning to the Trustees.
 
There were no public comments presented.
 
The public hearing was closed at 7:52 p.m.
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TRUSTEE PINDELL MOVED, TRUSTEE DAMBROSKI SECONDED to approve Ordinance
No. 784-24 - An ordinance approving the P-Public Zoning for the Mount View Cemetery
Annexation to the Town of Bennett, Colorado. The voting was as follows:
Ayes: Sus, Barden, Dambroski, Oakley, Pindell, Sus
Nays: None
Excused: Vittum
Whitney Oakley, Mayor, declared the motion carried by unanimous vote.

d. Civic Park Area Rezone
Ordinance No. 785-24 - An Ordinance Approving a Rezoning of Property Owned by the Town of Bennett Which
Contains Water Tanks, a Detention Pond and a Future Civic Park

Minutes:
Whitney Oakley, Mayor, called the matter of the Civic Center Park Area Rezone to order.
 
The public hearing was opened at 7:54 p.m.
 
Christina Hart, Town Clerk, stated that, in accordance with the Colorado state statute, it was
duly posted and published in the Eastern Colorado News on Friday, May 31, 2024. Legal
#2933.
 
Greg Thompson, Community Development Director, presented the Civic Park Area Rezone
to the Trustees.
 
There were no public comments presented.
 
The public hearing was closed at 7:59 p.m.
 
TRUSTEE SMITH MOVED, MAYOR PRO TEM BARDEN SECONDED to approve
Ordinance No. 785-24 - An ordinance approving a rezoning of property owned by the Town
of Bennett which contains water tanks, a detention pond and a future Civic Park. The voting
was as follows:
Ayes: Barden, Dambroski, Oakley, Pindell, Smith, Sus
Nays: None
Excused: Vittum
Whitney Oakley, Mayor, declared the motion carried by unanimous vote.

e. Ordinance No. 783-24 Approving CORE Electric Cooperative Franchise Agreement for
Electric Services
Ordinance No. 783-24 - An Ordinance Approving a Franchise Agreement with CORE Electric Cooperative to Use the
Town of Bennett's Rights-of-Way and Other Town Property in Order to Provide Electrical Energy and Service to the
Town and Its Residents

Minutes:
Whitney Oakley, Mayor, called the matter of the CORE Electric Cooperative Franchise
renewal to order.
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The public hearing was opened at 8:02 p.m.
 
Christina Hart, Town Clerk, stated that, in accordance with the Colorado state statute, it was
duly posted and published in the Eastern Colorado News on Friday, June 7, 14 and 21st
2024. Legal #2932.
 
Scotty Krob, Town Attorney, presented the first reading of the CORE Electric Cooperative
Franchise renewal to the Trustees.
 
Diane Moler, 595 Grant Ave., commented on the franchise fee as part of her CORE Electric
Cooperative bill.
Robert Osmond, CORE Electric Operative, Hyw 85, Sedalia, Colorado., provided additional
information and transparency on the franchise fee.
 
The public hearing was closed at 8:23 p.m.
 
TRUSTEE SMITH MOVED, MAYOR PRO TEM BARDEN SECONDED to approve the first
reading of Ordinance No. 783-24 authorizing the CORE Electric Cooperative electric
franchise agreement with the Town of Bennett and order the ordinance to be published as
required by statue, for final consideration on second reading after public hearing at the
Board's meeting on August 13, 2024. The voting was as follows:
Ayes: Dambroski, Oakley, Pindell, Smith, Sus, Barden
Nays: None
Excused: Vittum
Whitney Oakley, Mayor, declared the motion carried by unanimous vote.

7. Action/Discussion Items
a. Muegge Farms Major Roadways Development Agreement Amendment

Resolution No. 1016-24 - A Resolution Approving the First Amendment to the Development Agreement for Muegge
Farms Major Roadway Improvements

Minutes:
Savannah Chapa Vickery, Community Development Manager, presented the Muegge
Farms Major Roadway Development Agreement Amendment to the board. There was
discussion among the council.
 
TRUSTEE PINDELL MOVED, TRUSTEE DAMBROSKI SECONDED to approve
Resolution No. 1016-24 - A resolution approving the First Amendment to the Development
Agreement for Muegge Farms Major Roadway Improvements. The voting was as follows:
Ayes: Pindell, Sus, Barden, Dambroski
Nays: Oakley, Smith
Excused: Vittum
Whitney Oakley, Mayor, declared the motion carried.
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b. Brunner Subdivision Development Agreement Amendment
Resolution No. 1018-24 - A Resolution Approving the First Amendment to the Brunner Subdivision Agreement

Minutes:
Savannah Chapa Vickery, Community Development Manager, presented the Brunner
Subdivision Development Agreement Amendment to the board. There was discussion
among the council.
 
TRUSTEE PINDELL MOVED, TRUSTEE DAMBROSKI SECONDED to approve
Resolution No. 1018-24 - A resolution approving the First Amendment to the Brunner
Subdivision Agreement. The voting was as follows:
Ayes: Barden, Dambroski, Pindell, Sus
Nays: Oakley, Smith
Excused: Vittum
Whitney Oakley, Mayor, declared the motion carried.

c. Ordinance No. 786-24 - Amending Chapter 5 of the Bennett Municipal Code
Ordinance No. 786-24 - An Ordinance Amending Chapter 5 of the Bennett Municipal Code Regarding Franchises and
Communications Systems

Minutes:
Removed from the regular agenda. See Item 4. Approval of Agenda.

d. Highway 79 Permanent Trail Construction Phase II - Additional Board Pricing Request

Minutes:
Added to the consent agenda. See Item 5. Consent Agenda.

8. Town Manager Report

Minutes:
• Housing Needs Assessment: A community feedback form is live and available
at:https://app.smartsheet.com/b/form/642f37b5a8ee4bf88d324883ad56ee18
• Attended the monthly CDOT meeting. A preliminary download of data for the Safety Action Plan
was provided.
• An MOU (Memorandum of Understanding) has been made between Azure Printed Homes and
Russel McClennen for the Bennett Farms Property.
• July 12th, 6 pm - 8 pm - Trupp Park; Party in the Park, Corridor Creative Arts League, Denver
Museum of Nature and Science Curiosity Cruiser and I-70 Chamber of Commerce after-hour
events.
• July 19th - State of the Town at the Bennett Community Center
• August 16th, 6 pm 8 pm - Trupp Park; Party in the Park and Community Night Out.

9. Trustee Comments and Committee Reports
Mayor and Trustees

Minutes:
Kevin Barden, Mayor Pro Tem, reported on the following:
• Congratulations Danette Ruvalcaba for her grant writing. The Town accepted a $3.8 million grant
for the Civic Center Park, a $2 million grant for the Purple Pipe project and $25,000 for Trupp Park
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electrical upgrades from the Adams County Open Space grant program. .
 
Whitney Oakley, Mayor, called for a recess at 9:09 pm.
 
The meeting resumed at 9:21 pm.

10. Executive Session
a. Pursuant to Section 24-6-402(4)(b), C.R.S., to confer with the town attorney for the

purpose of receiving legal advice on specific legal questions related to the activities
and operations of the Sales Tax Oversight Committee and its members.

Minutes:
TRUSTEE PINDELL MOVED, TRUSTEE SMITH SECONDED to go into executive session
Pursuant to Section 24-6-402(4)(b), C.R.S., to confer with the town attorney for the purpose
of receiving legal advice on specific legal questions related to the activities and operations
of the Sales Tax Oversight Committee and its members. Voting was as follows:
Ayes: Sus, Barden, Dambroski, Oakley, Pindell, Smith
Nays: None
Excused: Vittum
Whitney Oakley, Mayor, declared the motion carried by unanimous vote.
 
The Board went into executive session at 9:23 pm.

b. Return to Open Meeting

Minutes:
The Board came out of the executive session at 10:13 pm.
 
Whitney Oakley, Mayor, announced that the Board has been in executive session and the
following persons participated: Steve Dambroski, Denice Smith, Royce Pindell, Christina
Hart, Trish Stiles, Scott Krob, Donna Sus, Kevin Barden and Whitney Oakley. Whitney
Oakley, Mayor, asked if there were any matters not included in the motion for an executive
session or violations of the Open Meetings Law, and if so, that these concerns be stated for
the record.
 
There were no concerns stated.

c. Report from Executive Session
11. To Take Action Following Executive Session

Minutes:
No action was taken.

12. Adjournment

Minutes:
TRUSTEE DAMBROSKI MOVED, TRUSTEE PINDELL SECONDED to adjourn the meeting. The
meeting was adjourned at 10:16 pm. Voting was as follows:
Ayes: Dambroski, Oakley, Pindell, Smith, Sus, Barden
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Nays: None
Excused: Vittum
Whitney Oakley, Mayor, declared the motion carried by unanimous vote.
     
Minutes Approved:
     

Whitney Oakley, Mayor
   

Christina Hart, CMC / Town Clerk

Individuals with disabilities who need auxiliary aids in attending the meeting may request assistance
by contacting the Town Hall at 207 Muegge Way, Bennett, CO 80102-7806, (303) 644-3249. Please
give notice at least 48 hours in advance of the meeting to allow for enough time in making the
necessary arrangements.

Contact: Christina Hart (chart@bennett.co.us 1303-644-3249 X1001) | Minutes published on 07/15/2024 at 2:03 PM
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July 23, 2024 

Board of Trustees 
Town of Bennett, Colorado 
207 Muegge Way 
Bennett, CO 80102  

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities,, 
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Town of Bennett, Colorado (the 
Town) for the year ended December 31, 2023. Professional standards require that we provide you with 
information about our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards Government Auditing 
Standards and the Uniform Guidance, as well as certain information related to the planned scope and 
timing of our audit. We have communicated such information in our letter to you dated September 26, 
2023. Professional standards also require that we communicate to you the following information related 
to our audit. 

Significant Audit Matters 

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices  

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant 
accounting policies used by the Town are described in Note 2 to the financial statements. The Town 
adopted GASB Statements 96 Subscription-Based Information Technology and 101 Compensated 
Absences. No other new accounting policies were adopted. The Town changed the recognition policies 
related to grant revenues. The application of no other existing policies was changed during the year. We 
noted no transactions entered into by the Town during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative 
guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in 
the proper period. 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 
based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about 
future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the 
financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ 
significantly from those expected. The most sensitive estimate(s) affecting the financial statements were:  

Management’s estimate of the useful lives of capital assets is based on management’s 
knowledge of the lives of other assets. We evaluated the methods, assumptions, and data 
used to develop the useful lives in determining that they are reasonable in relation to the 
financial statements taken as a whole. 

Management’s estimate of the how much earned leave an employee will use is based on 
management’s knowledge of leave use patterns. We evaluated the methods, assumptions, 
and data used to develop the amount of leave to accrue in determining that they are 
reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 
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Town of Bennett, Colorado 
July 23, 2024 
Page 2 

Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial 
statement users. The most sensitive disclosure(s) affecting the financial statements was (were):  

The disclosure of risks related to the Town’s cash and investments in Note 3 to the 
financial statements. 

The disclosure of commitments and contingencies in Note 9 to the financial statements. 

The disclosure of the restatement of equity in Note 14 to the financial statements. 

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit  

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing 
our audit. 

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements  

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the 
audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of 
management. Management has corrected all such misstatements. We proposed the following 
adjustments: 

To record an interfund payable/receivable to eliminated negative pool cash amounts in certain 
funds, 

To reconcile beginning equity to the prior year audited financial statements, 

 To reconcile note payable balances to their amortization schedules, 

Disagreements with Management  

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or 
auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial 
statements or the auditors’ report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the 
course of our audit. 

Management Representations  

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter dated July 23, 2024. 

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants  

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation involves 
application of an accounting principle to the Town’s financial statements or a determination of the type 
of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the 
consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our 
knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants. 

Other Audit Findings or Issues  

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and 
auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as the Town’s auditors. However, 
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Town of Bennett, Colorado 
July 23, 2024 
Page 3 

these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were 
not a condition to our retention. 

Positive Comments 

Town’s Fiscal Health 

The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) recommends that a fund have a minimum of 
180 days of operations in fund balance. As the graph below shows the Town’s General, Water and 
Wastewater all exceed this level. For purposes of this analysis, in the Water and Wastewater Funds we 
used unrestricted equity compared to budgeted expenditures. 

Single Audit 

The Town was required to have a Single Audit this year of its federal financial assistance. This is the 
first Single Audit the Town has had in five years. There was adequate oversight of the grant and there 
were no findings related to how the Town expended the funds related to Exit 304. 

Credit Cards 

As part of our audit procedures, we reviewed the credit card statement and the underlying 
documentation. The Town has a strong system of documenting the business purpose of meals and travel. 
We believe that the Town’s documentation is adequate for an audit by the Internal Revenue Service. 

Grant Usage 

Some governments are hesitant to use grant funding due to the compliance requirements. For the year 
ended December 31, 2023, the Town’s governmental activities expended more than $2.6 million in 
grants. The Town has the ability and skills to leverage grant funding to meet its goals. 

Suggestions of Areas to Improve Operations 

Supplemental Appropriations 

The Town normally does supplemental appropiations as part of the audit process in the subsequent year. 
We believe the Town should scrub its books on a quarterly basis, reviewing its balance sheet accounts, 
(agreeing amounts to subsidiary ledgers, ensuring amounts in payroll withholding accounts are what is 
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Town of Bennett, Colorado 
July 23, 2024 
Page 4 

owed) and also reviewing revenues and expenditures searching for budget variances which may indicate 
additional review of these transactions is necessary. At this point, any supplemental appropiations 
should be initiated. Doing supplemental appropiations when they occur will allow the Town to 
effectively use a compensating control of the review of budget variances. 

We recommend that the Town review its accounting records and propose supplemental appropiations on 
an on-going basis. 

Investments 

As the following graph shows, the Town has approximately $28 million in COLOTRUST. 

By its nature, COLOTRUST’S investments are very short-term. Its underlying securities have less than 
three months to maturity. Higher rates of return may be possible through different investments such as 
U.S. treasury securities with longer maturities, brokered certificates of deposit , etc.  

We recommend that the Town perform a cash flow analysis to estimate when investments will be 
needed. Based on this analysis the Town may want to match the maturity of its investments to its cash 
flow needs. 

PDPA 

The Town has almost $900,000 which is protected by the Public Deposit Protection Act (PDPA). The 
PDPA requires that a bank pledge 102% of uninsured deposits with certain investments to the pool of 
governmental deposits which are not covered by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) 
insurance. The preparation of the monthly report the financial institution submits to the State is 
dependent on the bank’s internal control systems to ensure that all public deposits are identified and 
adequate securities are pledged.  

We recommend several times a year the Town ask its banks for the monthly PDPA report. This report 
should be reviewed to confirm that all District accounts are identified and that account balances are 
reasonable and that adequate securities are pledged. 
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Town of Bennett, Colorado 
July 23, 2024 
Page 5 

Arbitrage 

The Town cannot make money on its bonded debt by borrowing funds at a discounted governmental rate 
and investing those funds at a regular, higher, rate of return. The Town is required to perform an 
arbitrage calculation to ensure that its bonds did not earn an excessive amount of interest. With the 
increase in interest rates this may become an issue for local governments. 

We recommend that the Town contact its bond attorneys to determine when arbitrage calculations are 
due. 

Review of Court Activities 

The Court Clerk needs the ability to adjust and write off ticket charges. As a result, this position has the 
ability to either pocket ticket revenue or also to fix tickets for certain individuals. A system of 
compensating controls, where the write-offs of revenue are reviewed will mitigate this possible loss. 
This review should be by someone independent of the ticket collection process, like the municipal judge. 

We recommend that the Town implement a compensating control of having a review of ticket write-offs 
or write-downs. 

CWCB Reserve Accounts 

The Colorado Water Conservation Board (CWCB) loan requires a reserve amount of one-tenth of the 
annual debt service payment until one year’s debt service payments are reserved. The Town has an 
adequate reserve for this loan; however, the amounts are not in a segregated fund.  

We recommend that the Town segregate the CWCB loan reserves. 

Board Approval of Town Manager’s Credit Card 

The Assistant Town Manager approves the Town Manager’s credit card usage. We believe that controls 
could be enhanced if these transactions were reviewed by the Mayor. We believe this review provides 
protection to both the Town and its Town Manager. 

We recommend that the Mayor formally review and approve the Town Manager’s credit card activity. 

Other Matters 

We applied certain limited procedures to Budget to Actual schedules of the General and Grants Funds, 
which are required supplementary information (RSI) that supplements the basic financial statements. 
Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods of preparing the 
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic 
financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance 
on the RSI.  

We were engaged to report on the combining statements and individual fund statements, which 
accompany the financial statements but are not RSI. With respect to this supplementary information, we 
made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the 
information to determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the 
information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We 
compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to 
prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves.  
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We would like to express our appreciation to Dannette Ruvalcaba, Danny Pennington and the staff of 
the Town for their assistance during the audit. 

We have also written a letter to the Finance Director of areas that she may wish to review. 

Restriction on Use 

This information is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Trustees and 
management of the Town of Bennett, Colorado and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by 
anyone other than these specified parties. 

Very truly yours, 

Rae & Co., CPAs, LLC 

DRAFT
Page 18Page 18Page 18Page 18Page 18Page 18Page 18Page 18Page 18Page 18Page 18Page 18Page 18



TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

December 31, 2023 

DRAFT
Page 19Page 19Page 19Page 19Page 19Page 19Page 19Page 19Page 19Page 19Page 19Page 19



 

  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
 PAGE 
 
  
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ........................................................................... A1 – A4 
 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS .................................................... B1 – B15 
 
BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 Government-wide Financial Statements 
 Statement of Net Position ................................................................................................. C1 
 Statement of Activities ...................................................................................................... C2 
 Fund Financial Statements 
 Governmental Fund Financial Statements 
  Balance Sheet ...................................................................................................... C3 - C4 
  Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Position ....................... C5 
  Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances .............. C6 - C7 
  Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and 
   Changes in Fund Balances to the Statement of Activities .................................... C8 
 Proprietary Fund Financial Statements 
  Statement of Net Position ........................................................................................... C9 
  Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position .................... C10 
  Statement of Cash Flows .......................................................................................... C11 
 Notes to the Basic Financial Statements ................................................................ D1 – D22 
 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
 Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance – Budget to Actual 
 General Fund ............................................................................................................. E1 – E3 
 Grants Fund  ...................................................................................................................... E4 
 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
 Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
 Combining Balance Sheet ................................................................................................. F1 
 Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund  
    Balances ........................................................................................................................  F3 
 Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances –  
   Budget and Actual 
  Road and Bridge Fund ................................................................................................ F5 
  Conservation Trust Fund ............................................................................................. F6 
  Open Space Fund ........................................................................................................ F7 
  Impact Fee Fund ......................................................................................................... F8 
  Antelope Hills GID Fund ............................................................................................ F9 

(Continued)

DRAFT
Page 20Page 20Page 20Page 20Page 20Page 20Page 20Page 20Page 20Page 20Page 20Page 20



 

  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

(Continued) 
 PAGE 
 

 Major Fund Budget Schedules 
  Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances –  
   Budget and Actual 
  Sales Tax Capital Improvement Fund ....................................................................... F10 
  Use Tax Capital Improvement Fund ......................................................................... F11 
  Water Fund (Non-GAAP Budget Basis)................................................................... F12 
  Wastewater Fund (Non-GAAP Budget Basis) ......................................................... F13 
 
OTHER SCHEDULES 
 
 Local Highway Finance Report ................................................................................. G1-G2 

DRAFT
Page 21Page 21Page 21Page 21Page 21Page 21Page 21Page 21Page 21Page 21Page 21Page 21



 

A1 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT  

To the Board of Trustees 
Town of Bennett, Colorado 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-
type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Bennett, 
Colorado (the Town) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the Towns’s basic financial statements as listed in the 
table of contents.  

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities,, each major fund, 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Bennett, Colorado, as of December 31, 
2023, and the respective changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the 
year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of 
our report. We are required to be independent of the Town and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, 
in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.  

Emphasis of Matters 

Restatement of Equity 

As described in Note 14 of these financial statements, in preparing for the audit the Town discovered the 
following issues which required a restatement of beginning equity: 

 Certain assets should have been capitalized during the year ended December 31, 2022. 

 Matching funds for some grants should have been transferred to the Grant Fund during the year 
ended December 31, 2022. 

Change in Accounting Principal 

As described in Note 2 of these financial statements, during the year ended December 31, 2023, the 
Town adopted new accounting guidance: 

 GASB Statement 96 Subscription-Based Information Technology 
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 GASB Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences 

Our opinions are not modified with respect to these matters. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Town’s ability to continue 
as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently 
known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on 
the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government 
Auditing Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the Town’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 
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We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information  

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis and budgetary comparison information on pages B1–B15 and E1–E4 be 
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of 
management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing 
the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have 
applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion 
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Supplementary Information  

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Town’s basic financial statements. The accompanying combining and 
individual nonmajor fund financial statements, schedules of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund 
balance – budget and actual, and the Local Highway Finance Report, are presented for purposes of 
additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the 
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to 
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements 
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor fund combining 
financial statements, schedules of revenues and expenditures – budget and actual, and the Local 
Highway Finance Report are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial 
statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards  

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated July XX, 2024, 
on our consideration of the Town’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Town’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  
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That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
in considering the Town’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.  

 

 

Timnath, Colorado 
July 23, 2024 DRAFT
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Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

ASSETS
Cash and investments 9,909,310$          17,989,165$    27,898,475$     
Accounts receivable 2,174,280            300,358           2,474,638         
Due from other governments 1,455,583            -                   1,455,583         
Internal balances 461,082               (461,082)          -                    
Property taxes receivable 1,145,434            -                   1,145,434         
Prepaid expenses -                       26,631             26,631              
Cash and investments - Restricted 1,199,953            641,104           1,841,057         
Capital assets, not being depreciated

Land, water rights and construction in progress 13,153,550          7,385,298        20,538,848       
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation

Buildings, equipment and infrastructure 21,569,254          27,593,820      49,163,074       
Right to use assets, net of accumulated amortization  

Software subscriptions 73,275                 -                   73,275              
Total assets 51,141,721          53,475,294      104,617,015     

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 804,915               153,645           958,560            
Accrued interest payable 29,201                 48,687             77,888              
Amounts owed to developers 3,746,635            -                   3,746,635         
Unearned revenues 477,452               366,000           843,452            
Compensated absences 111,924               29,695             141,619            
Noncurrent liabilities

Due within one year 327,770               554,694           882,464            
Due in more than one year 9,378,504            12,681,830      22,060,334       

Total liabilities 14,876,401          13,834,551      28,710,952       

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Property taxes 1,145,434            -                   1,145,434         

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 26,618,052          21,742,594       48,360,646       
Restricted    

Emergency reserves 312,905               -                    312,905            
Debt service -                       377,021            377,021            
Conservation trust 11,060                 -                    11,060              

Unrestricted 8,177,869            17,521,128       25,698,997       
Total net position 35,119,886$        39,640,743$    74,760,629$     

 

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

December 31, 2023

These financial statements should be read only in connection with
the accompanying notes to financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
Year Ended December 31, 2023

 

Program Revenues
 

Charges Operating Capital
for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-Type

Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total

Primary government:
Governmental activities:  

General government 4,514,242$    1,138,758$           -$                 19,533$         (3,355,951)$     -$               (3,355,951)$     
Public safety 648,398         55,157                  -                   472,754         (120,487)          -                 (120,487)          
Public works 1,099,414      -                        -                   1,740,080      640,666           -                 640,666           
Culture and recreation 664,576         -                        -                   332,955         (331,621)          -                 (331,621)          
Other 942,512         94,688                  -                   77,714           (770,110)          -                 (770,110)          
Interest on long-term debt 291,543         -                        -                   -                (291,543)          -                 (291,543)          

Total governmental activities 8,160,685      1,288,603             -                       2,643,036      (4,229,046)       -                 (4,229,046)       
Business-type activities:

Water 1,494,878      1,526,579             -                   3,660,105      -                   3,691,806      3,691,806        
Wastewater 1,248,337      1,329,232             -                   2,130,715      -                   2,211,610      2,211,610        

Total business-type activities 2,743,215      2,855,811             -                   5,790,820      -                   5,903,416      5,903,416        
Total Primary Government 10,903,900$  4,144,414$           -$                 8,433,856$    (4,229,046)       5,903,416      1,674,370        

 
General revenues:    
   Taxes
        Property and specific ownership taxes 629,950           -                 629,950           
        Sales taxes 5,928,163        -                 5,928,163        
        Use taxes 661,178           -                 661,178           
        Other taxes 865,919           -                 865,919           
   Impact fees 1,030,391        -                 1,030,391        
   Investment earnings 503,005           834,180         1,337,185        
   Other 566,884           -                 566,884           
   Gain on disposal of assets 6,700               187,468         194,168           
Transfers (47,870)            47,870           -                   
        Total general revenues and transfers 10,144,320      1,069,518      11,213,838      
        Change in net position 5,915,274        6,972,934      12,888,208      
Net position - Beginning (As originally reported) 28,864,321      32,667,809    61,532,130      
Restatement 340,291           -                 340,291           
Net position - Ending 35,119,886$    39,640,743$  74,760,629$    

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO

Changes in Net Position
Net (Expense) Revenue and 

These financial statements should be read only in connection with
the accompanying notes to financials statements.
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General Grants

ASSETS
Cash and investments 6,098,423$      -$                 
Cash and investments - restricted -                   -                   
Accounts receivable 789,962 -                   
Due from other funds 2,528,072 -                   
Due from other governments -                   1,455,583
Property taxes receivable 799,742 -                   

Total assets 10,216,199$    1,455,583$      
 

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,   
AND FUND BALANCES

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 277,485$         34,252$           
Accrued expenses 126,923 -                   
Amounts owed to developers 3,746,635 -                   
Due to other funds -                   1,411,215
Unearned revenue 12,000 10,116
Compensated absences 111,924 -                   

Total liabilities 4,274,967        1,455,583        

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES  
Unavailable revenue-property taxes and assessments 799,742 -                   

Total deferred inflows of resources 799,742           -                   

FUND BALANCES  
Restricted

Emergency reserves 312,905           -                   
Capital asset purchases -                   -                   
Conservation trust -                   -                   

Assigned
Public works -                   -                   

Unassigned 4,828,585        -                   
Total fund balances 5,141,490        -                   

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
 RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES 10,216,199$    1,455,583$      

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO
BALANCE SHEET

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
December 31, 2023
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Sales Tax  Use Tax  Nonmajor Total
Capital Capital Governmental Governmental

Improvement Improvement Funds Funds

48,714$         947,929$         2,814,244$      9,909,310$      
723,461 476,492           -                   1,199,953        

1,331,507 -                   52,811             2,174,280        
-                 -                   -                   2,528,072        
-                 -                   -                   1,455,583        
-                 -                   345,692           1,145,434        

2,103,682$    1,424,421$      3,212,747$      18,412,632$    
 

332,827$       -$                 28,185$           672,749$         
-                 -                   5,243               132,166           
-                 -                   -                   3,746,635        

480,516 31,737 143,522           2,066,990        
-                 -                   455,336           477,452           
-                 -                   -                   111,924           

813,343         31,737             632,286           7,207,916        

-                 -                   345,692           1,145,434        
-                 -                   345,692           1,145,434        

-                 -                   -                   312,905           
1,290,339      1,392,684        1,777,872         4,460,895        

-                 -                   11,060             11,060             

-                 -                   445,837           445,837           
-                 -                   -                   4,828,585        

1,290,339      1,392,684        2,234,769        10,059,282      

2,103,682$    1,424,421$      3,212,747$      18,412,632$    

 '

These financials statements should be read only in connection with
the accompanying notes to financial statements.

C4

DRAFT
Page 31Page 31Page 31Page 31Page 31Page 31Page 31Page 31Page 31Page 31Page 31Page 31



RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
December 31, 2023

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are
different because:

Total fund balance - Total governmental funds 10,059,282$    

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and, 
therefore, are not reported in the funds. 34,796,079      

Accrued interest payable is not due and therefore is not included in the funds. (29,201)            

Noncurrent liabilities, including loans, leases, bonds payable, and software subscriptions
are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not reported
in the funds. (9,706,274)       

Net position of governmental activities 35,119,886$    
 

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO

These financials statements should be read only in connection with
the accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Sales Tax  Use Tax
 Capital Capital 

General Grants Improvement Improvement
REVENUES

Taxes 5,268,631$      -$              1,480,945$    661,178$         
Intergovernmental -                   1,724,247      1,513,000      24,450             
Licenses and permits 773,297           -                -                -                   
Charges for services 460,837           -                -                -                   
Fines and forfeitures 54,469             -                -                -                   
Bennett arts and cultural fund 131,714           -                -                -                   
Net investment income 218,718           -                89,495           70,210             
Impact fees -                   -                -                -                   
Other 236,913           275,972         -                -                   

Total revenues 7,144,579        2,000,219      3,083,440      755,838           

EXPENDITURES  
Current  

General government 3,846,499        -                -                -                   
Public safety 648,398           -                -                -                   
Public works 522,058           -                176,908         -                   
Culture and recreation 381,470           -                -                -                   
Cemetery 19,327             -                -                -                   
Buildings 267,512           -                -                -                   
Other 367,204           -                   
Bennett arts & cultural fund 122,746           

Debt service  
 Principal and interest -                   -                359,800         219,100           
Capital outlay 274,269           952,883         3,232,767      319,326           

Total expenditures 6,449,483        952,883         3,769,475      538,426           
     

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 695,096           1,047,336      (686,035)       217,412           

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Sale of general capital assets 6,700               -                -                -                   
Transfers in 440,600           856,888         -                230,120           
Transfers (out) (268,934)          (1,085,773)    -                (66,355)            

Total other financing sources (uses) 178,366           (228,885)       -                163,765           

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES 873,462           818,451         (686,035)       381,177           

FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING OF YEAR
 (AS ORIGINALLY REPORTED) 4,366,235        (935,359)       1,976,374      1,043,245        

Restatement of Equity (98,207)            116,908         -                (31,738)            

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR 5,141,490$      -$              1,290,339$    1,392,684$      

 

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Year Ended December 31, 2023
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Nonmajor Total
Governmental Governmental

Funds Funds

333,578$         7,744,332$      
456,131           3,717,828        

-                   773,297           
-                   460,837           
-                   54,469             
-                   131,714           

124,582           503,005           
1,030,391        1,030,391        

-                   512,885           
1,944,682        14,928,758      

 

28,777             3,875,276        
-                   648,398           

288,654           987,620           
-                   381,470           
-                   19,327             
-                   267,512           

367,204           
165,723           288,469           

 
324,901           903,801           
305,925           5,085,170        

1,113,980        12,824,247      

830,702           2,104,511        

-                   6,700               
-                   1,527,608        

(154,417)          (1,575,479)       
(154,417)          (41,171)            

676,285           2,063,340        

1,643,654        8,094,149        

(85,170)            (98,207)            

2,234,769$      10,059,282$    

These financials statements should be read only in connection with
the accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are
different because:

Net change in fund balances - Total governmental funds 2,063,340$       

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the statement
of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives
and reported net of depreciation and amortization expense.  This is the amount by
which capital outlay exceeded depreciation and amortization and gain on the disposal
of assets in the current period
   Capital outlay 5,085,170$    
   Proceeds from disposal of assets (6,700)            
   Gain on disposal of assets 6,700             
   Depreciation and amortization (1,033,866)     

4,051,304         
The issuance of long-term debt (e.g. leases and bonds) provides current financial resources
 The repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current financial

resources of governmental funds.  This transaction, however, has no effect on net
position.  
   Principal payments made  602,891            

 
Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current
 financial resources and, therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental

funds.
   Change in accrued interest 9,367                

 

Change in net position of governmental activities 6,726,902$       

Year Ended December 31, 2023

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES,

EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

These financials statements should be read only in connection with
the accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Wastewater
Water Fund Fund Total

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 12,719,948$    5,269,217$      17,989,165$    
Cash and cash equivalents - restricted 393,973           247,131           641,104           
Accounts receivable, net 197,525 102,833 300,358           
Prepaid items 26,631 -                  26,631             

Total current assets 13,338,077      5,619,181        18,957,258      
Noncurrent assets:

Capital assets, not being depreciated 5,716,518 1,668,780 7,385,298        
Capital assets, net of depreciation 14,270,693 13,323,127 27,593,820      

Total noncurrent assets 19,987,211      14,991,907      34,979,118      
Total assets 33,325,288      20,611,088      53,936,376      

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:  

Accounts payable 32,917 61,658 94,575
Other liabilities 51,101 7,969 59,070
Accrued interest 37,748 10,939 48,687
Unearned revenue -                  366,000 366,000
Due to other funds 461,082 -                  461,082
Notes payable, current 154,652           179,818           334,470
Bonds payable, current 140,000           -                  140,000
Capital leases, current 40,112 40,112 80,224
Compensated absences 14,861 14,834 29,695

Total current liabilities 932,473           681,330           1,613,803        

Notes payable 2,908,940 4,838,567 7,747,507        
Bonds payable 4,934,323 -                  4,934,323        

Total noncurrent liabilities 7,843,263        4,838,567        12,681,830      
Total liabilities 8,775,736        5,519,897        14,295,633      

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 11,809,184      9,933,410        21,742,594      
Restricted - debt service 240,821           136,200           377,021           
Unrestricted 12,499,547      5,021,581        17,521,128      

Total net position 24,549,552$    15,091,191$    39,640,743$    

Noncurrent liabilities:

 

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
December 31, 2023

These financials statements should be read only in connection with
the accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Wastewater
Water Fund Fund Total

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services 1,526,579$      1,329,232$      2,855,811$      

Total operating revenues 1,526,579        1,329,232        2,855,811        

OPERATING EXPENSES
Operations and maintenance 871,755           709,454           1,581,209        
Depreciation 432,734           471,675           904,409           

Total operating expenses 1,304,489        1,181,129        2,485,618        

OPERATING INCOME 222,090           148,103           370,193           

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment earnings 611,513           222,667           834,180           
Intergovernmental 25,000             374,230           399,230           
Interest expense and fiscal charges (190,389)         (67,208)           (257,597)         
Other revenue 182,468           5,000               187,468           

Total non-operating revenues (expenses) 628,592           534,689           1,163,281        

INCOME BEFORE  CONTRIBUTIONS AND 
TRANSFERS 850,682            682,792            1,533,474        

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS AND TRANSFERS
Capital contributions 3,635,105        1,756,485        5,391,590        
Transfers in 1,085,773        -                  1,085,773        
Transfers out (817,603)         (220,300)         (1,037,903)      

Total capital contributions and transfers 3,903,275        1,536,185        5,439,460        

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 4,753,957 2,218,977 6,972,934

NET POSITION -  BEGINNING OF YEAR 19,795,595      12,872,214      32,667,809      

NET POSITION - END OF YEAR 24,549,552$    15,091,191$    39,640,743$    

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
December 31, 2023

These financials statements should be read only in connection with
the accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Wastewater
Water Fund Fund Total

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from customers 1,837,134$      1,676,499$      3,513,633$      
Cash paid to employees (211,277)         (176,610)         (387,887)         
Cash paid to suppliers (1,010,740)      (535,781)         (1,546,521)      

Net cash provided by operating activities 615,117           964,108           1,579,225        

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED    
  FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of capital assets (2,426,277)      (1,355,225)      (3,781,502)      
System investment fees received 3,635,105        1,756,485        5,391,590        
Debt principal payments (370,136)         (263,458)         (633,594)         
Debt interest payments (194,379)         (71,362)           (265,741)         

Net cash provided by capital and related financing
activities 644,313           66,440             710,753           

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING
  ACTIVITIES

Grant and related cash receipts 25,000             374,230           399,230           
Transfers to/from other funds 268,170           (220,300)         47,870             
Other income 182,464           5,000               187,464           

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 475,634           158,930           634,564           

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 611,513           222,667           834,180           

Net cash provided by investing activities 611,513           222,667           834,180           

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS         2,346,577         1,412,145         3,758,722 

Cash and cash equivalents -  beginning of the year 10,767,344 4,104,203 14,871,547

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year 13,113,921$    5,516,348$      18,630,269$    

RECONCILIATION OF NET OPERATING INCOME
  TO NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING
  ACTIVITIES

Cash Provided by Operating Activities
Net operating income 222,090$          148,103$         370,193$         
Adjustments to reconcile net operating income to

cash provided by operating activities
Depreciation expense 432,734            471,675           904,409           

Changes in assets and liabilities related to operations
(Increase) Decrease in:

Accounts receivable (150,527)          (18,733)           (169,260)         
Prepaid items 1,210                -                  1,210               

Increase (Decrease) in:
Accounts payable (379,474)          (20,689)           (400,163)         
Due to other funds 461,082           -                  461,082           
Other liabilities 19,206              7,375               26,581             
Deferred revenue -                  366,000           366,000           
Compensated absences payable 8,796               10,377             19,173             

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 615,117$         964,108$         1,579,225$      

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
December 31, 2023

These financials statements should be read only in connection with
the accompanying notes to financial statements.
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TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2023 
 
 

D1 

NOTE 1 -  DEFINITION OF REPORTING ENTITY 
 

The Town of Bennett, Colorado (the Town), was incorporated in 1930, and is 
governed by a Mayor and seven-member Board of Trustees elected by the residents. 
The Town provides the following services: public safety, public works, water and 
sanitation, parks and recreation, public improvements, planning and zoning, and 
general administrative services. 

 
The Town follows the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
accounting pronouncements which provide guidance for determining which 
governmental activities, organizations and functions should be included within the 
financial reporting entity. GASB pronouncements set forth the financial 
accountability of a governmental organization's elected governing body as the basic 
criterion for including a possible component governmental organization in a primary 
government's reporting entity. Financial accountability includes, but is not limited to, 
appointment of a voting majority of the organization's governing body, ability to 
impose its will on the organization, a potential for the organization to provide specific 
financial benefits or burdens and fiscal dependency. 

The Town includes the Antelope Hills General Improvement District (the District) 
within its reporting entity. The District is a legally separate entity from the Town 
and the Town Trustees sit as the Board of Directors of the District. The District has 
the power to acquire, construct or install public improvements within its own 
boundaries and to finance such improvements by levying a general property tax 
upon the benefiting property. The District is reported as a blended component unit in 
the Town’s financial statements due to Town Board control. The District does not 
issue separate financial statements. 
 

 
NOTE 2 -  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
The accounting policies of the Town conform to generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP) as applicable to government units. The following is a summary of 
the more significant policies. 
 
While these balances are reported in fund financial statements, certain eliminations 
are made in the preparation of the government-wide financial statements. Balances 
between the funds included in governmental and business-type activities are 
eliminated so that only the net amount is included as internal balances in the 
governmental and business-type activities columns. Governmental activities are 
normally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues and are reported 
separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and 
charges for support. 
 
The statement of net position reports all financial and capital resources of the primary 
government. The difference between the assets, deferred outflows of resources, 
liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources of the Town are reported as net position. 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct and indirect 
expenses of a given function or segment are offset by program revenues. Direct 
expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment.  
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TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2023 
 
 

D2 

NOTE 2 -  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or 
directly benefit from goods, services or privileges provided by a given function or 
segment, and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational 
or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not 
properly included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating 
items. Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and 
producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal 
ongoing operations. Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the cost of sales 
and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues 
and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and 
expenses. 
 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary 
funds. Major individual governmental funds are reported as separate columns in the 
fund financial statements. 
 
Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting as are the proprietary funds. 
Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is 
incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Grants and similar items are 
recognized as revenues as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider 
have been met. Depreciation is computed and recorded as an operating expense. 
Expenditures for property and equipment are shown as increases in assets, and 
payment of principal for bonds, leases, and notes are recorded as a reduction in 
liabilities.  

 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial 
resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues 
are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are 
considered to be available when they are collected within the current period or soon 
enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the 
government considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of 
the end of the current fiscal year. The Town has determined that expenditure-driven 
grants revenue should be recognized as soon as all eligibility criteria have been met. 
For this purpose, the Town considers grant revenues to be available if they are 
anticipated to be collected within the year after the current fiscal period. The major 
sources of revenue susceptible to accrual are property taxes, specific ownership taxes, 
sales taxes, and grant funding. All other revenue items are considered measurable and 
available only when cash is received by the Town. Expenditures, other than interest 
on long-term obligations are recorded when the liability is incurred, or the long-term 
obligation is due. 
 
Major Funds - In the fund financial statements, the Town reports the following major 
governmental funds:  
 The General Fund is the Town’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all 

financial resources of the general government, except those accounted for in 
another fund. 

 The Grant Fund accounts for the revenues and expenditures of federal, state and 
local grant awards. 
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TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2023 
 
 

D3 

NOTE 2 -  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 
(Continued)  
 The Sales Tax Capital Improvement Fund accounts for the proceeds of the 

Town’s 2016 Sales Tax Revenue Bonds and the additional 1% sales tax approved 
by the Town’s voters in November, 2015 the proceeds of which are restricted to 
construction and maintenance of the Town’s roads.  

 The Use Tax Capital Improvement Fund accounts for the proceeds of the Town’s 
2021 General Obligation Bonds and the 2% use tax assessed on construction 
permits. 

 
Nonmajor Funds – The Town reports five nonmajor governmental funds which include 
1) Road and Bridge 2) Conservation Trust , 3) Open Space, 4) Impact Fees, and 5) 
Antelope Hills GID. 
 
The Town also reports the following major proprietary funds: 
 The Water Fund accounts for the financial activities associated with the 

provision of water services to Town residents. 
 The Wastewater Fund accounts for the financial activities associated with the 

operation and maintenance of the sewer system. 
 
Budgets 
Budgets are adopted for all funds of the Town as required by State statutes. Budgets 
for the governmental funds are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP). Budgetary comparisons for the proprietary fund are 
presented on a non-GAAP budgetary basis. Capital outlay and debt principal 
payments are budgeted as expenditures and depreciation is not budgeted. All annual 
appropriations lapse at fiscal year-end. On or before October 15 of each year, the 
Finance Department submits to the Town Board a proposed operating budget for the 
fiscal year commencing on the following January 1. Public hearings are conducted to 
obtain input from elected officials, residents, and other interested parties. By 
December 31, the final budget is adopted. The appropriated budget is adopted by 
fund. Management is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between departments 
within any fund. However, any revisions that alter the total expenditures of any fund 
must be approved by the Board. The amount expended exceeded appropiations for the 
Antelope Hills GID. This maybe a violation of Colorado state statute. 

 
 Estimates 
 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 

accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 
 
Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources and Net Position/Fund 
Balances 
 
Cash and Investments – For purposes of the cash flow statements, cash equivalents 
are defined as cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term investments with 
original maturities of three months or less. Investments are stated at fair value, with 
the exception of the local government investment pool, which is stated at the net asset 
value of the shares owned. 
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TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2023 
 
 

D4 

NOTE 2 -  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Accounts Receivable – Receivables All receivables are reported at their gross value 
and, where appropriate, are reduced by the estimated portion that is expected 
to be uncollectible. At December 31, 2023, the Town believes all amounts recorded 
are fully collectible. 

Activities between funds that represent lending/borrowing arrangements at the end 
of the fiscal year are referred to as either “due (to)/from other funds.” Any 
residual balances outstanding between governmental activities and business-type 
activities are reported in the government-wide financial statements as internal 
balances. 
 
Capital Assets - Capital assets, which include property, equipment, and infrastructure 
(e.g., roads and similar items), and intangibles (e.g., water rights), and water and 
wastewater systems are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type 
activities. Capital assets are defined by the Town as assets with an initial, individual 
cost of more than $5,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. Such 
assets are recorded at historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital 
assets are recorded at estimated acquisition value at the date of donation. The costs of 
normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially 
extend asset lives are not capitalized.  
 
Improvements are capitalized and depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the 
related fixed assets, as applicable. Capital assets of the Town are depreciated using 
the straight-line method over the estimated economic useful lives: 
 
 Buildings 40 years 
 Buildings and improvements 15 years 
 Equipment   5 - 10 years 
 Infrastructure      15 - 30 years 
 Parks and recreation fields 10-40 years 
 Water and Wastewater systems 15-50 years 
 
Compensated Absences - Vacation leave is based on an employee’s length of 
employment and is earned ratably during the span of employment. Sick leave for full 
and part time employee’s is earned at a rate of 3.08 hours per pay period with a 
maximum accrual of 160 hours. Seasonal employees earn 1 hour of sick leave for 
every 30 hours worked up to a maximum of 48 hours. Unpaid compensated absences 
are recorded as a liability when the benefits are earned. The liability is typically 
liquidated with resources of the same fund that has paid the applicable employee's 
regular salaries and fringe benefits.  
 
Unearned Revenues – Unearned revenues consist of advances received on grants and 
fees received in advance of performing services that are recognized as revenue when 
the terms of the grant are fulfilled or the services are performed. 

 
Long-Term Debt – In the government-wide financial statements and the proprietary 
funds, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities. In the 
fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and 
discounts during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other 
financing sources.  
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TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2023 
 
 

D5 

NOTE 2 -  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources and Net Position/Fund 
Balances (Continued) 

 
Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while 
discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, 
whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as current 
expenditures. 
 
Deposits – Developer deposits held in escrow and security deposits received from 
customers are reported as liabilities in the financial statements 
 
Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources – In addition to assets, the statement of 
financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of 
resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, 
represents a consumption of net assets that applies to future periods and so will not be 
recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/ expenditure) until then.  
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a 
separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement 
element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net assets that 
applies to future periods and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources 
(revenue) until that time. Deferred inflows of resources include property taxes earned 
but levied for a subsequent period totaling $1,145,434. 

 
In the government-wide financial statements, net position is restricted when constraints 
placed on the net position are externally imposed. When both restricted and 
unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Town’s policy to use restricted 
resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report fund balance in five 
different classifications: 

 
Restricted – Amounts that can be spent only for specific purposes because of 
constitutional provisions, enabling legislation, constraints that are externally imposed 
by creditors, grantors, contributors, or the laws or regulations of other governments. 
 
Committed – Amounts that can be used only for specific purposes determined by a 
formal action of the Board, as the Board is the highest level of decision-making body 
for the Town. Commitments may be established, modified, or rescinded only through 
ordinances or resolutions approved by the Board. 

 
Assigned – Amounts that do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or 
committed, but that are intended to be used for specific purposes. Only the Board can 
assign fund balance. 
 
Unassigned – Is the residual classification for the General Fund and includes all 
spendable amounts not contained in the other classifications. In other governmental 
funds, the unassigned classification is used only to report a deficit balance resulting 
from overspending for specific purposes for which amounts had been restricted, 
committed, or assigned. 
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TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2023 
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NOTE 2 -  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources and Net Position/Fund 
Balances (Continued) 
 
When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and 
unrestricted fund balance is available, the Town considers restricted funds to have 
been spent first. When an expenditure is incurred for which committed, assigned or 
unassigned fund balances are available, the Town considers amounts to have been 
spent first out of committed funds, then assigned funds, and finally unassigned funds, 
as needed, unless the Board has provided otherwise in its commitment or assignment 
actions.  
 
Property Taxes - Property taxes are levied by the Board. The levy is based on 
assessed valuations determined by the County Assessor generally as of January 1 of 
each year. The levy is normally set by December 15 by certification to put a tax lien 
on the individual properties as of January 1 of the following year. The County 
Treasurers of Adams and Arapahoe Counties collect the and remit the Town’s taxes  
monthly.  
 
The taxes are payable by April or if in equal installments, at the taxpayer’s election, 
in February and June. Delinquent taxpayers are notified in August and generally sales 
of the tax liens on delinquent properties are held in November. Property taxes levied 
in the previous year, but collected in subsequent year, are recorded as taxes receivable 
and a deferred inflow of resources in the year there is an enforceable lien and the 
amount is measurable. Amounts deferred are subsequently recorded as revenue in the 
year they were levied for. 
 

 GASB Statements Implemented for the Year Ended December 31, 2023 
 GASB Statement 96 
 The Town implemented GASB Statement 96 Subscription-Based Information 

Technology during the current fiscal year. The Town is a subscriber of certain 
subscription-based information technology arrangements (SBITA). A SBITA is a 
contract that conveys control of the right to use a vendor’s software, alone or in 
combination with hardware. The Town recognizes both a liability and an intangible 
right-to-use asset in the Government-wide financial statements. The right-to-use asset 
of a SBITA is reported with depreciable capital assets and the liabilities for SBITAs 
are reported with the long-term liabilities when the SBITA contract term is greater 
than 12 months. In general, SBITAs with a contract term of 12 months or less are 
recognized as outflows of resources or expense.  

 
 At the commencement of a SBITA contract, the Town initially measures the SBITA 

liability at the present value of payments expected to be made during the subscription 
term. The SBITA liability is reduced by the principal portion of the subscription 
payments made. The SBITA asset is initially measured as the initial amount of the 
SBITA liability, adjusted for subscription payments made at or before the 
subscription commencement date, plus certain initial direct costs. The SBITA asset is 
amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the subscription term or useful 
life. 

 
 The key estimates and judgements related to SBITAs are as follows:  
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TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2023 
 
 

D7 

NOTE 2 -  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
 The Town uses the interest charged on leases as the discount rate. If the 

interest rate charged by the vendor is not available, the Town generally uses 
its estimated incremental borrowing rate. A 3% interest rate was used for 
these contracts 

 The subscription term includes the noncancellable period of the SBITA. In 
determining the subscription term, management considers all facts and 
circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension 
option or not exercise a termination option. Extension options or periods after 
termination options are only included in the subscription term if it is 
reasonably certain that the SBITA will be extended or not terminated. The 
Town believes these contracts will be renewed for an additional four years 
after the implementation year of December 31, 2023. 

 
Liabilities arising from a SBITA are initially measured on a present value basis. 
SBITA liabilities include the net present value of the following contract payments, 
less any SBITA vendor incentives received from the SBITA vendor at the 
commencement of the subscription term:  
 Fixed payments; 
 Variable payments that depend on an index or a rate (such as the Consumer 

Price Index or a marked interest rate), measured using the index or rate as of 
the commencement of the subscription term; 

 Variable payments that are fixed in-substance;  
 Payments for penalties for terminating the SBITA, if the subscription term 

reflects the government exercising an option to terminate the SBITA or a 
fiscal funding or cancellation clause; and  

 Any other payments to the SBITA vendor associated with the SBITA contract 
that are reasonably certain of being required based on an assessment of all 
relevant factors.  

 
Assets arising from a SBITA are initially measured using the sum of the following, 
less any SBITA vendor incentives received from the SBITA vendor at the 
commencement of the subscription term:  
 The amount of the initial measurement of the subscription liability.  
 Payments associated with the SBITA contract made to the SBITA vendor at 

the commencement of the subscription term, if applicable; and  
 Capitalizable initial implementation costs. 

 
The SBITAs will be remeasured if certain changes occur that are expected to 
significantly affect those balances. 
 
GASB Statement 101 
During the current fiscal year the Town also adopted the GASB Statement No. 101, 
Compensated Absences. This statement requires a liability to be reported for leave, both 
vacation and sick leave, that has been earned and is anticipated to be paid to the 
employee in the form of paid time off, cash or settled through noncash means. Based on 
this criteria, the Town recorded a liability for 100% of vacation and 25% of sick leave 
earned. A liability is also recorded for salary-related payments. For the Town this is 
FICA and the employer’s retirement payments. The Statement requires that amounts in 
governmental funds, which will be liquidated with current financial resources be 
recorded as a fund liability. The Town anticipates that the entire liability will be paid 
with current resources and is recorded in the fund.  
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NOTE 2 -  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Upcoming Accounting Pronouncements 
In June, 2023, the GASB issued Statement No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error 
Corrections an Amendment of GASB Statement No. 62. The objective of this Statement 
is to enhance accounting and financial reporting requirements for accounting changes 
and error corrections to provide more understandable, reliable, relevant, consistent and 
comparable information for making decisions or assessing accountability. This 
Statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2024.  

 
GASB Statement No. 102, Certain Risk Disclosures, will be implemented as required 
by GASB during fiscal year ending September 30, 2025. The objective of the 
Statement is to provide users of government financial statements with essential 
information about risks related to a government’s vulnerabilities due to certain 
concentrations or constraints. This Statement defines a concentration as a lack of 
diversity related to an aspect of a significant inflow of resources or outflow of 
resources. A constraint is a limitation imposed on a government by an external party 
or by formal action of the government’s highest level of decision-making authority. 
Concentrations and constraints may limit a government’s ability to acquire resources 
or control spending. The Town is currently evaluating potential changes to the 
financial statements as a result of the implementation of this Statement. 
 
In April, 2024, the GASB issued Statement No. 103 Financial Reporting Model 
Improvements. The objective of this Statement is to improve key components of the 
financial reporting model to enhance its effectiveness in providing information that is 
essential for decision making and assessing a government’s accountability. The 
statement requires that the management’s discussion and analysis be reported in five 
sections. The statement also describes unusual or infrequent items. Proprietary funds 
must now report and subtotal noncapital subsidies. Major component units must be 
presented separately. And the budget to actual information must be reported as RSI. 
The Town is currently evaluating the effect this statement will have on its financial 
reporting. 

 
 Prior Year Amounts  
 Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year 

presentation.  
 
NOTE 3 -  CASH AND INVESTMENTS 

 
Cash and investments as of December 31, 2023 are classified in the accompanying 
financial statements as follows: 

 
Governmental activities:  
 Cash and investments $ 27,898,475 
 Cash and investments – Restricted  1,841,057 
 Total cash and investments  $ 29,739,532 
 
Cash and investments as of December 31, 2023 consist of the following: 
 Deposits with financial institutions  $ 1,654,127 
 Investments  28,085,405 
 Total cash and investments $ 29,739,532 
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NOTE 3 -  CASH AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Deposits with Financial Institutions 
Custodial credit risk-deposits. The Colorado Public Deposit Protection Act (PDPA) 
requires that all units of local government deposit cash in eligible public depositories. 
Eligibility is determined by state regulators. Amounts on deposit in excess of federal 
insurance levels must be collateralized. The eligible collateral is determined by the 
PDPA. PDPA allows the institution to create a single collateral pool for all public 
funds. The pool for all the uninsured public deposits as a group is to be maintained by 
another institution or held in trust. The market value of the collateral must be at least 
102% of the aggregate uninsured deposits. 
 
The State Bank Commissioner is required by statute to monitor the naming of eligible 
depositories and reporting of the uninsured deposits and assets maintained in the 
collateral pools. 
 
As of December 31, 2023, the Town's cash deposits had a bank balance of $1,572,549 
and a carrying balance of $1,654,127. As of December 31, 2023, of the Town’s 
deposits $673,955 was covered by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), 
$898,595 was covered by the PDPA and $307,338 is held by a third-party vendor not 
covered by FDIC insurance, the PDPA or specific securities. 
 
Investments 
Colorado statutes specify investment instruments meeting defined rating and risk 
criteria in which local governments may invest which include: 
 
 Obligations of the United States and certain U.S. government agency securities, 
 Certain international agency securities, 
 General obligation and revenue bonds of U.S. local government entities, 
 Certain certificates of participation, 
 Certain securities lending agreements, 
 Bankers' acceptances of certain banks, 
 Commercial paper, 
 Written repurchase agreements collateralized by certain authorized securities, 
 Certain money market funds, 
 Guaranteed investment contracts, and  
 Local government investment pools 
 
Concentration of credit risk. While the Town’s policy does not prescribe percentages 
of investments that maybe held, the Town generally limits its concentration of 
investments to certain money market funds and local government investment pools, 
which are believed to have minimal credit risk, minimal interest rate risk, and no 
foreign currency risk. Additionally, the Town is not subject to concentration of 
custodial risk disclosure requirements or subject to investment custodial risk for 
investments that are in the possession of another party. 
 

Interest rate risk. The Town’s policy for the investment of operating funds limits 
maturities to five years or less except for repurchase agreements which may be for 10 
years. 

 
As of December 31, 2023, the Town had the following investments: 
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NOTE 3 -  CASH AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

     Weighted     Net 
         Average    Asset 
                                               Maturity     Value   
 
COLOTRUST PLUS+ 48 days to reset 
   78 days to maturity  $ 28,085,405 
 
The Town invested in the Colorado Local Government Liquid Asset Trust 
(COLOTRUST), an investment vehicle established for local government entities in 
Colorado to pool surplus funds. The State Securities Commissioner administers and 
enforces all State statutes governing the Trust. The Town invests in one of 
COLOTRUST’s pools, COLOTRUST PLUS+. The PLUS+ Trust operates similarly to 
a money market fund and each share is equal in value to $1.00. This portfolio may 
invest in U.S. Treasury securities and repurchase agreements collateralized by U.S. 
Treasury securities. COLOTRUST PLUS+ may also invest in certain obligations of 
U.S. government agencies, highest rated commercial paper and repurchase agreements 
collateralized by certain obligations of U.S. government agencies. COLOTRUST 
PLUS+ attempts to maintain a NAV of $1.00 per share. At December 31, 2023 the 
NAV was $1.00.  
 
A designated custodial bank serves as custodian for the Trust’s portfolios pursuant to a 
custodian agreement. The custodian acts as safekeeping agent for the Trust’s 
investment portfolios and provides services as the depository in connection with direct 
investments and withdrawals. The custodian’s internal records segregate investments 
owned by the Trust. COLOTRUST Plus+ is rated AAAm by Standards & Poor’s. 
COLOTRUST’s PLUS+ does not have any unfunded commitments, redemption 
restrictions or redemption notice periods.  
 
Fair Value Hierarchy. The Town categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair 
value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy 
is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 
inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are 
significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. 
The Town has no investments which are required to be valued in the hierarchy. 

 
Restricted Cash and Investments 
At December 31, 2023, the Town has restricted cash of $723,461 and $476,492 in the 
Sales Tax Capital Improvement and Use Tax Capital Improvement funds. These 
amounts are restricted for capital construction. In addition, the Town has restricted cash 
of $393,973 in the Water Fund and $247,131 in the Wastewater Fund. These amounts 
are restricted for debt reserves. 

 
NOTE 4 -  CAPITAL ASSETS 
 

As described in Note 1, the Town adopted GASB Statement 96 Subscription-Based 
Information Technology. As a result, the Town recorded a right-to-use asset of software 
totaling $91,594. The beginning balance of capital assets was restated for this amount. 
 

 
Capital asset activity for the governmental activities for year ended December 31,  
2023 was as follows: 
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NOTE 4 -  CAPITAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Balance at
 December 31, Balance at

2022 December 31,
(Restated) Increases Decreases 2023

Governmental Activities
Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land and improvements 2,758,194$      -$                 -$                 2,758,194$      
Public art 40,989             87,566             -                   128,555           
Construction in progress 7,537,831        4,135,261        (1,406,291)       10,266,801      

Total capital assets,
    not being depreciated 10,337,014      4,222,827        (1,406,291)       13,153,550      

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings 4,150,494        290,863           -                   4,441,357        
Infrastructure 13,980,521      594,519           -                   14,575,040      
Parks and recreation fields 5,541,199        1,361,956        -                   6,903,155        
Vehicle and equipment 925,383           -                       -                   925,383           
Information technology 150,809           8,546               -                   159,355           
Street and park equipment 474,435           12,750             -                   487,185           

Total capital assets,
    being depreciated 25,222,841      2,268,634        -                   27,491,475      

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings (962,062)          (136,922)          -                   (1,098,984)       
Infrastructure (1,788,593)       (464,581)          -                   (2,253,174)       
Parks and recreation fields (1,427,397)       (268,145)          -                   (1,695,542)       
Vehicle and equipment (451,125)          (71,156)            -                   (522,281)          
Information technology (83,815)            (19,143)            -                   (102,958)          
Street and park equipment (193,682)          (55,600)            -                   (249,282)          

Total accumulated depreciation (4,906,674)       (1,015,547)       -                   (5,922,221)       
Total capital assets,
    being depreciated, net 20,316,167      1,253,087        -                   21,569,254      
Capital assets, net 30,653,181      5,475,914        (1,406,291)       34,722,804      
Right to use assets

Subscription-Based Information 
Technology Arrangements 91,594             -                   -                   91,594             

Less accumulated amortization for 
 right to use assets -                   (18,319)            -                   (18,319)            

Right to use assets, net 91,594             (18,319)            -                   73,275             
Total capital/right to use assets 30,744,775$    5,457,595$      (1,406,291)$     34,796,079$    

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows:

General government 620,646$         
Public works 111,795           
Culture and recreation 283,106           

Total depreciation expense 1,015,547$      
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NOTE 4 -  CAPITAL ASSETS(CONTINUED) 
 

Capital asset activity for the business-type activities for year ended December 31, 
2023 was as follows: 

 
 

 

 
NOTE 5 -  LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS  
  

The following is an analysis of the changes in the Town’s long-term obligations for 
the year ended December 31, 2023. The activity of the Town’s long-term 
governmental activities obligations is as follows: 

 
 

 Balance at Balance at
December 31, December 31,

2002 Increases Decreases 2023
Business-type activities
Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land and improvements 67,138$           -$                 -$                 67,138$           
Water rights 1,205,799        -                   -                   1,205,799        
Construction in progress 8,243,562        3,248,410        (5,379,611)       6,112,361        

Total capital assets,
    not being depreciated 9,516,499        3,248,410        (5,379,611)       7,385,298        

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings and plant 7,204,664        -                       -                   7,204,664        
Collection systems 7,792,745        -                       -                   7,792,745        
Water systems 11,619,543      5,844,473        -                   17,464,016      
Ponds 656,605           -                       -                   656,605           
Equipment 1,683,310        68,234             -                   1,751,544        

Total capital assets,
    being depreciated 28,956,867      5,912,707        -                   34,869,574      

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and plant (747,591)          (179,363)          -                   (926,954)          
Collection systems (991,779)          (244,643)          -                   (1,236,422)       
Water systems (3,623,292)       (366,970)          -                   (3,990,262)       
Ponds (332,056)          (16,160)            -                   (348,216)          
Equipment (676,627)          (97,273)            -                   (773,900)          

Total accumulated depreciation (6,371,345)       (904,409)          -                   (7,275,754)       
Total capital assets,
    being depreciated, net 22,585,522      5,008,298        -                   27,593,820      
Total capital assets 32,102,021$    8,256,708$      (5,379,611)$     34,979,118$    

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs as follows:

Water 432,734$         
Wastewater 471,675           

Total depreciation expense 904,409$         
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NOTE 5 -  LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 

D u r i n g  2 0 1 6 ,  the Town issued $5,700,000 Sales Tax Revenue Bond to finance 
the construction  and  maintenance  of existing and  planned street-related capital 
improvements within the Town. Interest payments are due semi-annually on June 
1 and December 1, with interest accruing at rates ranging from 2% to 4%. 
Principal payments are due annually on December 1, through 2040. 

The bonds maturing on and after December 2025 are subject to redemption prior 
to maturity, at the option of the Town, in whole or in part. If in part, the Town 
shall determine by lot within a maturity, on December 2024 and on any date 
thereafter at a redemption price equal to the principal amount with the accrued 
interest to the redemption date. Following is a summary of the debt service 
requirements under the agreement: 

During 2017, the Antelope Hills General Improvement District ( t h e
D i s t r i c t )  issued $1,995,000 General Obligation Refunding Note to refund and 
pay the outstanding Series 2006 bond. Interest payments are due semi-annually 
on June 1 and December 1, with interest accruing at a rate of 5.50%. Principal 
payments are due annually on December 1, through 2040. The District has 
pledged the net revenues listed below. The Note is subject to redemption prior to 
maturity, at the option of the District, as a whole or in part, on any date 
thereafter, upon payment of par and accrued interest to the date of redemption. 

Year ended December 31,  Principal Interest Total

2024 175,000$        177,800$        352,800$        
2025 175,000          170,800          345,800          
2026 195,000          163,800          358,800          
2027 200,000          156,000          356,000          
2028 200,000          148,000          348,000          

2029-2033 1,130,000       613,800          1,743,800       
2034-2038 1,380,000       368,000          1,748,000       
2039-2043 990,000          66,800            1,056,800       

Totals 4,445,000$     1,865,000$     6,310,000$     

Governmental Activities:
Series 2016 Sales Tax Revenue Bond 4,620,000$      -$             175,000$       4,445,000        175,000$         
Series 2016 premium 333,760           - 30,222 303,538  -     
Private Placement with a financial institution
 Series 2017 GO refunding Note 1,345,139        250,922 1,094,217        25,000             
Series 2021, GO Bonds 3,545,000        - 100,000 3,445,000        110,000           
Series 2021 premium 373,672   - 29,495 344,177  -     
Software subscription liability 91,594     - 17,252 74,342    17,770             

10,309,165$    -$             602,891$       9,706,274        327,770$         
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NOTE 5 -  LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 

The 2017 Note is secured by and payable solely from and to the extent of the 
Net Pledged Revenue, which includes the following, after the payment of 
costs for Allowable Operations Expenses which are limited to an initial amount 
of $12,500, which may be increased 2% per year (up to a maximum of $15,000): 

 
 the District’s covenant to levy the Limited Mill Levy on all taxable property 

in the District  
 any specific ownership tax revenues attributable to the Limited Mill Levy 
 revenues collected from the Facilities Fees imposed by the District 
 any other legally available funds of the District 

The Limited Mill Levy is defined as an ad valorem mill levy not less than 35 
mills and not in excess of 36.71 mills. Such minimum and maximum mill levies are 
subject to adjustment due to changes in the method of calculating assessed valuation 
after the issuance of the 2017 Note. For the purposes of this provision, collection 
year 2017 is the base year for the ratio for assessment to actual valuation and 
for making any determination of mill levy equivalency. The loan also requires 
additional payments totaling $669,217 over the life of the Note. Following is a 
summary of debt service requirements under the agreement: 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

During 2021, the Town issued $3,685,000 Refunding and Improvement 
Certificates of Participation. Proceeds were used to: i) current refund the 
outstanding 2017 lease purchase agreement in the amount of $1,797,000; ii) 
finance the acquisition, construction, installation, and equipping of various public 
improvements to be used as the Town’s new North Municipal Complex; and iii) 
pay the costs of issuing the certificates. Interest payments are due semi-annually 
on June 1 and December 1, with interest accruing at a rate of 4%. Principal 
payments are due annually on December 1, through 2045. 
 
The certificates maturing on and after December 1, 2034 are subject to 
redemption prior to their respective maturity dates, in whole or in part, at a 
redemption price equal to the principal amount of the certificates, plus 
accrued interest to the redemption date. Following is a summary of debt service 
requirements: 

 

Year ended 
December 31,

 Principal Interest Total

2024 25,000$            60,349$       85,349$       
2025 25,000              59,624         84,624         
2026 25,000              58,230         83,230         
2027 25,000              56,836         81,836         
2028 25,000              55,593         80,593         

2029-2033 125,000            256,432       381,432       
2034-2038 125,000            221,565       346,565       
2039-2043 719,217            78,925         798,142       

Totals 1,094,217$       847,553$     1,941,770$  
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NOTE 5 -  LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2023 the Town adopted GASB 96 Subscription-
Based Information Technology (SBITAs). The Town has two subscriptions which, under 
this statement, the Town recognizes a subscription liability and an intangible right-to-use 
asset in the government wide statements.  

 
At the commencement of the subscription, the Town initially measures the liability at the 
present value of payments expected to be made during the subscription term including 
any purchase option price that the Town is reasonably certain to exercise. The amount of 
the liability at January 1, 2023 was $91,594. Subsequently, the liability is reduced by the 
principal portion of the subscription payments made. The vendors did not provide an 
interest rate for the contract and the Town used its estimated incremental borrowing rate 
of 3%. The Town believes that the annual contract will be renewed five times. 

 
The right-to-use asset is initially measured as the initial amount of the subscription 
liability, adjusted for payments made at or before the subscription commencement date, 
plus implementation costs that can be capitalized. Subsequently, the subscription asset is 
amortized on a straight-line basis over the assets estimated useful life. Following is a 
summary of debt service requirements: 

 

  
 
 
 

Year ended December 31,  Principal Interest Total
2024 110,000$        113,100$        223,100$        
2025 110,000          108,700          218,700          
2026 115,000          104,300          219,300          
2027 115,000          99,700            214,700          
2028 125,000          95,100            220,100          

2029-2033 695,000          398,550          1,093,550       
2034-2038 815,000          278,700          1,093,700       
2039-2043 945,000          149,550          1,094,550       
2044-2048 415,000          18,750            433,750          

 3,445,000$     1,366,450$     4,811,450$     

Year ended 
December 

31,
Principal Interest Total

2024 17,770$           4,048$             21,818$           
2025 18,303             4,050               22,353             
2026 18,852             4,052               22,904             
2027 19,417             4,054               23,471             

74,342$           16,204$           90,546$           
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Year ended 
December 

31,
 Principal Interest Total

2024 34,442$       42,178$       76,620$       
2025 35,562         41,058         76,620         
2026 36,717         39,903         76,620         
2027 37,911         38,709         76,620         
2028 39,143         37,477         76,620         

2029-2033 215,644       167,458       383,102       
2034-2038 253,039       130,063       383,102       
2039-2043 296,919       86,183         383,102       
2044-2048 348,407       34,694         383,101       

1,297,784$  617,723$     1,915,507$  

NOTE 5 -  LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
The activity of the Town’s long-term business-type activities obligations is as 
follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
During 2015, During 2015,  the Town issued $1,454,000 Water Loan through 
the Colorado Water Conservation Board ( C W C B ) to replace two wells. 
Interest payments are due annually on August 1, with interest accruing at a 
rate of 3.25%. Principal payments are due annually on August 1, through 2048. 
The Town must add an  amount  of $7,662 annually to a debt reserve fund, with a 
maximum reserve of $76,620. The Town has funded these reserves through 
restrictions of its cash balances in the Water Fund. As of December 31, 2022, 
the Town has met all reserve requirements. Following is a summary of debt service 
requirements: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
During 2016, the Town issued $2,500,000 Drinking Water Revolving Fund Loan with Colorado 
Water Resources and Power Development Authority (CWRPDA) to replace existing water 
system storage. Interest payments are due semi- annually on May 1 and November 1, with 
interest accruing at a rate of 2%.  

Business-type activities
Private Placement with CWCB

 2015 Water loan 1,331,143$      -$                 33,359$           1,297,784        34,442$           
Private Placement with CWRPDA      

 2016 Water loan 1,883,649        117,841           1,765,808        120,210           
 2017 Wastewater loan 2,116,999        -                   83,021             2,033,978        83,020             
 2018 Wastewater loan 3,127,581        -                   143,174           2,984,407        96,798             
2019 Capital lease 154,750           -                   74,526             80,224             80,224             
Series 2020 Water revenue bonds 4,650,000        -                   135,000           4,515,000        140,000           

 Series 2020  premium 605,996           -                   46,673             559,323           -                   
13,870,118$    -$                 633,594$         13,236,524      554,694$         
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NOTE 5 -  LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

Principal payments are due semiannually on May 1 and November 1, through 2036. 
The loan contains a  net revenue pledge of  Water Fund revenues towards 
repayment.  
 
The Town is required to maintain an operations and reserve fund in an amount 
equal to three months of operations and maintenance expenses, excluding 
depreciation. T h e  r e s e r ve  c a n  b e  i n  t h e  f o r m  o f  c a s h  o r  f u n d  e q u i t y .  
At December 31, 2023, $393,973  has been reserved for this purpose. 

During 2017, the Town issued $2,500,000 Water Pollution Control Revolving 
Fund Loan with CWRPDA to construct a new mechanical wastewater treatment 
facility to replace the existing lagoon system. Principal payments are due semi-
annually on May 1 and November 1, through 2038. T h i s  l o a n  h a s  a  
z e r o - i n t e r e s t  r a t e .  The loan contains a net revenue pledge of 
Wastewater Fund revenues towards repayment. The Town is required to maintain 
an operations and reserve fund in an amount equal to three months of operations 
and maintenance expenses, excluding depreciation. This reserve can be in the 
form of cash or fund equity. At December 31, 2023, $247,131 has been 
reserved for this purpose. 

 
During 2018, the Town issued $3,500,000 Water Pollution Control Revolving 
Fund Loan with CWRPDA to construct a new mechanical wastewater treatment 
facility to replace the existing lagoon system. Interest payments are due semi-
annually on May 1 and November 1, with interest accruing at a rate of 1.89%. 
Principal payments are due semi-annually on May 1 and November 1, through 
2048. The loan contains a net revenue pledge of Wastewater Fund revenues towards 
repayment. This reserve can be in the form of cash or fund equity. As noted above 
$247,131 is reserved for this purpose. 
 
Annual debt service requirements for all CWPDRA outstanding loans at December 
31, 2023 are as follows: 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Year ended 
December 

31,
 Principal Interest Total

2024 300,028$     90,668$       390,696$     
2025 304,283       86,414         390,697       
2026 308,621       82,076         390,697       
2027 313,044       77,653         390,697       
2028 317,553       73,143         390,696       

2029-2033 1,658,570    294,912       1,953,482    
2034-2038 1,470,816    172,811       1,643,627    
2039-2043 1,081,716    97,127         1,178,843    
2044-2048 1,029,564    31,384         1,060,948    

6,784,195$  1,006,188$  7,790,383$  
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NOTE 5 -  LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 

 
All the CWRDPA loans require that net revenues represent a sum equal to 
110% of the amount necessary to pay, when due, the principal and interest on 
the loans coming due during the fiscal year. The Town believes that it is in 
compliance with the requirements as of December 31, 2023. 

 
Leases Liabilities 
In 2019, the Town entered into a lease purchase agreement for a Vac-Con 
Jetvac Truck in the original principal amount of $361,055. Lease payments are due 
annually on August 15, with interest accruing at a rate of 3.97%, through 2024. At 
December 31, 2023, the net book value of this asset is $216,634. Annual debt 
service requirements are as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 
During 2020, the Town issued $4,905,000 Water Revenue Bonds to finance 
the acquisition of renewable water rights and the construction of well and well 
field improvements. Interest payments are due semiannually on June 1 and 
December 1, with interest accruing at rates ranging from 3% to 4%. Principal 
payments are due annually on December 1, through 2045. Annual debt service 
requirements for the bonds are as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
NOTE 6 -  NET POSITION 

 
As also described in Note 2, net position in the Government-wide Statement of Net 
Position is reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use 
either through enabling legislation or through external restrictions imposed by 
creditors, grantors or laws or regulators of other governments. 
 
The Town has net position consisting of three components – net investment in capital 
assets, restricted, and unrestricted.  

 

Year ended December 31,  Principal Interest Total
2024 140,000$        153,000$        293,000$        
2025 140,000          148,800          288,800          
2026 145,000          144,600          289,600          
2027 150,000          138,800          288,800          
2028 160,000          132,800          292,800          

2029-2033 890,000          563,400          1,453,400       
2034-2038 1,080,000       377,150          1,457,150       
2039-2043 1,255,000       198,450          1,453,450       
2044-2048 555,000          25,050            580,050          

 4,515,000$     1,882,050$     6,397,050$     

Year ended December 31,  Principal Interest Total
2024 80,224$          3,075$            83,299$          
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NOTE 6 -  NET POSITION (CONTINUED) 

 
Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated 
depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of notes, capital leases and 
bonds that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those 
assets. As of December 31, 2023, the Town had a net investment in capital assets 
calculated as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Restricted assets include restrictions for use either externally imposed by creditors, 
grantors, contributors, or laws and regulations of other governments or imposed by 
law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. In the governmental 
activities, the Town had restricted net position of $323,965 as of December 31, 2023. 
The Town’s unrestricted net position as of December 31, 2023 is $8,177,869 and 
$17,521,128 for the business-type activities. 

 
NOTE 7 -  PENSION PLAN 

 
The Town participates in the Colorado County Officials and Employees 
Retirement Association (CCOERA), a multiple employer defined contribution 
plan, to which permanent employees contribute. In a defined contribution plan, 
benefits depend solely on amounts contributed to the plan plus investment 
earnings. Employees become plan members after one year of regular full-time or 
regular part-time service. Under this plan, 3% of the plan members’ compensation 
is withheld and remitted to the Plan Administrator along with a matching 
payment of 3% from the Town. Employees are immediately vested in their own 
contributions and earnings on those contributions. 

For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Town recognized 
contributions of $83,014, $66,052, and $60,133. 

Deferred Compensation Plan 
 

The Town has a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with 
Internal Revenue Code Section 457. The plan is administered by CCOERA. 
Participation in the plan is optional for all employees. The plan allows employees to 
defer a portion of their salary until future years. 
 

 

Governmental Business-Type 
Activities Activities

Net investment in capital assets:
Capital assets, net 34,796,079$      34,979,118$    
Debt related to capital assets 8,178,027          13,236,524      

Net investment in capital assets 26,618,052$      21,742,594$    
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NOTE 9 -  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 

Grants 
The Town participates in various federal, state and local grant programs. In the current 
fiscal year, the federal grants are subject to program compliance audits pursuant to the 
Single Audit Act as amended. Accordingly, the government’s compliance with 
applicable grant requirements will be established at a future date. The amount of 
expenditures which may be disallowed by the granting agencies cannot be determined at 
this time, although the government anticipates such amounts, if any, will not have a 
material effect on the Town’s financial statements. 
 
Construction commitments 
At December 31, 2023, the Town has entered into contracts totaling $5,611,096. The 
remaining amounts to be expended under these contracts is $1,797,142. 
 

NOTE 10 -  TRANSFERS/INTERFUND RECEIVABLES & PAYABLES 
 
Interfund transfers for the year ended December 31, 2023 are as follows: 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

The transfer from the proprietary funds to the General Fund is to reimburse certain 
administrative costs. The transfers to the Grant Fund are to provide resources for grant 
matching expenditures. 

   
  Interfund receivables/payables are as follows as of December 31, 2023: 

 
 Interfund Interfund

Receivables Payables
General 2,528,072$      -$                
Grants -                   1,411,215       
Sales Tax Capital Improvement -                   480,516          
Use Tax Capital Improvement -                   31,737            
Nonmajor Governmental Funds -                   143,522          
Water Fund -                   461,082          

2,528,072$      2,528,072$     

General Grants Use Tax Capital
Fund Fund Improvement Water Total

General Fund -$                 38,814$          230,120$         -$                 268,934$         
Grants -                   -                  -                   1,085,773        1,085,773        
Use Tax Capital Improvement -                   66,355            -                   -                   66,355             
Non-Major -                   154,417          -                   -                   154,417           
Water 220,300           597,303          -                   -                   817,603           
Wastewater 220,300           -                  -                   -                   220,300           

440,600$         856,889$        230,120$         1,085,773$      2,613,382$      
 

Transfers In

Transfers Out
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NOTE 10 – TRANSFERS/INTERFUND RECEIVABLES & PAYABLES d(CONTINUED) 
 

During the course of operations, transactions occur between Town funds for goods and 
services provided and services rendered and for the reimbursement of expenditures. 
Related interfund receivables and payables are classified as due from other funds and 
due to other funds on the balance sheet and will be settled within one year.  

 
NOTE 11 -  RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
The Town is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and 
destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural 
disasters. The Town is a member of the Colorado Intergovernmental Risk Sharing 
Agency (CIRSA). CIRSA is a joint self-insurance pool created by intergovernmental 
agreement of 275 members to provide property and liability and/or workers’ 
compensation coverage to its members. 

Coverage is provided through pooling of self-insured losses and the purchase of 
excess insurance coverage. CIRSA has a legal obligation for claims against its 
members to the extent that funds are available in its annually established loss fund, 
and those amounts are available from insurance providers under excess specific and 
aggregate insurance contracts. 
 
Losses incurred in excess of loss funds and amounts recoverable from excess 
insurance are direct liabilities of the participating members. CIRSA has indicated that 
the amount of any excess losses would be billed to members in proportion to their 
contributions in the year such excess occurs, although it is not legally required to do 
so. The Town maintains commercial insurance for workers’ compensation 
coverage. Claims have not exceeded coverage in any of the past three fiscal years. 

 
NOTE 12 -  TAX, SPENDING AND DEBT LIMITATIONS  

 
In November 1992, Colorado voters passed the TABOR Amendment to the State 
Constitution which limits state and local government taxing powers and imposes 
spending limitations. Fiscal year 1992 provides the basis for limits in future years, to 
which may be applied allowable increases for inflation and property valuation. 
 
Revenue received in excess of the limitations is required to be refunded unless the 
Town’s electorate vote to retain the revenue.  
 
The TABOR Amendment is subject to many interpretations, but the Town believes 
it is in substantial compliance with the Amendment. 

 
In November 1994, voters permitted the Town, without increasing or adding any 
taxes of any kind, to collect, retain or expend revenues generated from all sources 
during 1994 and each subsequent year for trails, parks, and open space, storm water 
facilities and drainage, street, curb and sidewalk construction, repair  and 
maintenance, police services, and for other basic municipal services and lawful 
purposes, without limitation. 

The Town has established an emergency reserve of 3%, as required by the 
Amendment. At December 31, 2023, the emergency reserve was reported as restricted 
fund balance in the General Fund, in the amount of $312,905. 
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NOTE 13 -  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

During the year ending December 31,2024, the Town entered into a lease for the 
purchase of certain vehicles. The requires annual payments of $157,137 and amount of 
the lease is $795,687. 

NOTE 14 -  RESTATEMENTS 

During its preparation for the audit the Town discovered the following issues which 
required a restatement the fund balance, along with those restatements as the result of 
adopting a new accounting pronouncement: 

Certain capital assets were not included in construction in progress  $         370,279 
The adoption of GASB Statement 101 and the resulting increase in 
compensated abscences             (29,988)

General Fund
The adoption of GASB Statement 101 and the resulting increase in 
compensated abscences (98,207)            
Grants Fund
To record matching funds relating to the previous year 116,908           
Use Tax Capital Improvement Fund
To record matching funds relating to the previous year (31,738)            
Non-Major Funds
To record matching funds relating to the previous year (85,170)$          

Government Wide Level

Fund Level
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Variance with
  Final Budget

Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES
Taxes 5,176,820$   5,176,820$      5,268,631$      91,811$           
Licenses and permits 408,725        408,725           773,297           364,572           
Charges for service 435,235        435,235           460,837           25,602             
Fines and forfeitures 5,990            5,990               54,469             48,479             
Bennett arts and cultural fund 110,500        110,500           131,714           21,214             
Net investment income 379,805        379,805           218,718           (161,087)         
Other 49,095          49,095             236,913           187,818           

Total revenues 6,566,170     6,566,170        7,144,579        578,409           

EXPENDITURES
General government 3,687,280     3,687,280        3,846,499        (159,219)         
Public safety 685,430        685,430           648,398           37,032             
Public works 505,755        505,755           522,058           (16,303)           
Culture and recreation 413,685        413,685           381,470           32,215             
Cemetery 25,000          25,000             19,327             5,673               
Buildings 326,385        326,385           267,512           58,873             
Nondepartmental 768,109        768,109           367,204           400,905           
Bennett arts and cultural fund 235,500        335,500           122,746           212,754           
Capital outlay -               146,000           274,269           (128,269)         

Total expenditures 6,647,144     6,893,144        6,449,483        443,661           
 

EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER (UNDER)  
 EXPENDITURES (80,974)        (326,974)         695,096           1,022,070        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)   
Sale of general assets 20,000          20,000             6,700               (13,300)           
Transfers in 666,765        666,765           440,600           (226,165)         
Transfers (out) (504,626)      (504,626)         (268,934)          235,692           

Total other financing sources (uses) 182,139        182,139           178,366           (3,773)             

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES 101,165$      (144,835)$       873,462           1,018,297$      
 

FUND BALANCE  - BEGINNING  
OF YEAR (AS ORIGINALLY REPORTED)  4,366,235        

Restatement of Equity (98,207)            

FUND BALANCE - END OF YEAR 5,141,490$      

 

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN

FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

GENERAL FUND
Year Ended December 31, 2023

NON GAAP BUDGET BASIS

See accompanying independent auditors' report.
E1
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Variance
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

Revenues
Taxes

Property tax 629,570$       629,570$     629,950$       380$            
Sales and use tax 4,397,900 4,397,900    4,447,218 49,318         
Lodging tax 58,400 58,400         70,528 12,128         
Cigarette tax 7,115 7,115           9,759 2,644           
Franchise tax 83,170 83,170         96,390 13,220         
Severance tax -                 -               14,725 14,725         
Other tax 665 665 61 (604)             

Total taxes 5,176,820      5,176,820    5,268,631      91,811         
Licenses and permits

Building permits 266,515 266,515 516,217 249,702       
Plan reviews 36,010 36,010 93,560 57,550         
Animal licenses 1,860 1,860 688 (1,172)          
Liquor licenses 1,950 1,950 1,075 (875)             
Infrastructure inspection fees 50,000 50,000 60,027 10,027         
Miscellaneous 52,390 52,390 101,730 49,340         

Total licenses and permits 408,725 408,725 773,297         364,572       
Charges for services

Charges for services rentals 69,320 69,320 70,430 1,110           
Internal department charges 349,740 349,740 378,587 28,847         
Cemetery charges 15,975 15,975 11,800 (4,175)          
Other charges for services 200 200 20 (180)             

Total charges for services 435,235 435,235 460,837         25,602         
Fines and forfeitures  

Court fees 5,990 5,990 54,469 48,479         
Total fines and forfeitures 5,990 5,990 54,469           48,479         
Investment Earnings

Investment earnings 379,805 379,805 218,718 (161,087)      
Total investment earnings 379,805 379,805 218,718         (161,087)      
 
Bennett art and cultural fund 110,500 110,500 131,714 21,214         
Total Bennett art and cultural fund 110,500 110,500 131,714         21,214         
Other revenues

Impact fees 27,920 27,920 68,288 40,368         
Miscellaneous revenues 21,175 21,175 168,625 147,450       

Total other revenues 49,095 49,095 236,913         187,818
Other financing sources

Sale of general assets 20,000 20,000 6,700 (13,300)        
Transfers in 666,765 666,765 440,600 (226,165)      

Total other financing sources 686,765 686,765 447,300 (239,465)      
Total revenues 7,252,935$    7,252,935$  7,591,879$    338,944$     

 

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES

 BUDGET AND ACTUAL
GENERAL FUND

Year Ended December 31, 2023

See accompanying independent auditors' report.
E2
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 Original Final
Variance
Positive

 Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
Expenditures
General government

Administration   1,523,165$      1,523,165$      1,526,958$    (3,793)$        
Communication  19,235 19,235 43,498 (24,263)
Finance   428,550 428,550 415,583 12,967
Boards and commissions  204,445 204,445 152,893 51,552
Town clerk  84,335 84,335 70,389 13,946
Elections  1,500 1,500 -                 1,500
Municipal court  35,140 35,140 38,862 (3,722)
Community development  434,355 434,355 615,334 (180,979)
Planning  253,040 253,040 286,471 (33,431)
Economic development  184,970 184,970 132,126 52,844
Information technology  146,240 146,240 143,896 2,344
Internal services 372,305 372,305 420,489 (48,184)

Total general government 3,687,280 3,687,280 3,846,499 (159,219)
Public safety 685,430 685,430 648,398 37,032
Public works 505,755 505,755 522,058 (16,303)
Culture and recreation 413,685 413,685 381,470 32,215
Cemetery 25,000 25,000 19,327 5,673
Buildings 326,385 326,385 267,512 58,873
Non departmental 768,109 768,109 367,204 400,905
Bennett arts and cultural fund 235,500 335,500 122,746 212,754
Capital outlay -                   146,000           274,269         (128,269)      

Total other expenditures 2,959,864 3,205,864 2,602,984 602,880
Transfers out 504,626 504,626 268,934 235,692

Total expenditures 7,151,770$      7,397,770$      6,718,417$    679,353$     
 

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES

 BUDGET AND ACTUAL
GENERAL FUND

Year Ended December 31, 2023

See accompanying independent auditors' report.
E3
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 Variance with
 Final Budget

Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES
Intergovernmental 1,936,500$    1,936,500$    1,724,247$    (212,253)$         
Other income -                -                275,972 275,972            

Total revenues 1,936,500      1,936,500      2,000,219      63,719              

EXPENDITURES
Capital outlay 2,609,730      2,709,730      952,883 1,756,847         

Total expenditures 2,609,730      2,709,730      952,883         1,756,847         

EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER (UNDER)
 EXPENDITURES (673,230)       (773,230)       1,047,336      1,820,566         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 673,500         673,500         856,888 183,388            
Transfers (out) (270)              (270)              (1,085,773)    (1,085,503)        

Total other financing sources (uses) 673,230         673,230         (228,885)       (902,115)           

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES -$              (100,000)$     818,451         918,451$          

FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING OF YEAR
(AS ORIGINALLY  REPORTED) (935,359)       

Restatement of equity 116,908

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR -$              

Year Ended December 31, 2023

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO
 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN

FUND BALANCES  -  BUDGET AND ACTUAL
GRANT FUND

See accompanying independent auditors' report.
E4
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 Conservation  
Road and Trust Open Space 

Bridge Fund Fund Fund

ASSETS
. Cash and investments 856,139$       46,325$         11,060$         

Accounts receivable 51,662 -                 -                 
Property taxes receivable -                 -                 -                 

TOTAL ASSETS 907,801$       46,325$         11,060$         

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF 
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 1,385$           -$               -$               
Accrued expenses 5,243 -                 -                 
Unearned revenues 455,336 -                 -                 
Due to other funds -                 46,325 -                 

Total liabilities 461,964         46,325           -                 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unavailable revenue-property taxes -                 -                 -                 

FUND BALANCES
Restricted

Capital projects -                 
Parks and recreation -                 -                 11,060           

Assigned
Public works 445,837         -                 -                 

Total fund balances 445,837         -                 11,060           
TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS 
 OF RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES 907,801$       46,325$         11,060$         

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
December 31, 2023

F1
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Total
Nonmajor

Impact Fees Antelope Hills Governmental
Fund GID Fund Funds

1,760,874$    139,846$       2,814,244$      
1,149 52,811             

345,692 345,692           
1,760,874$    486,687$       3,212,747$      

26,800$         -$               28,185$           
-                 5,243               
-                 455,336           

97,197 -                 143,522           
123,997         -                 632,286           

-                 345,692         345,692           
 

1,636,877      140,995         1,777,872        
11,060             

445,837           
1,636,877      140,995         2,234,769        

1,760,874$    486,687$       3,212,747$      

See accompanying independent auditors' report.
F2

DRAFT
Page 68Page 68Page 68Page 68Page 68Page 68Page 68Page 68Page 68Page 68Page 68Page 68



 Public
Road and Conservation Open Space

Bridge Fund Trust Fund Fund
REVENUES

Taxes 44,098$            -$                  -$                 
Intergovernmental 340,878 24,635               90,618             
Net investment income 47,008 2,152                 -                   
Impact fees -                   -                    -                   

Total revenues 431,984            26,787               90,618             

EXPENDITURES
General government -                   -                    -                   
Public works 288,654 -                    -                   
Debt service
 Principal and interest -                   -                    -                   
Capital outlay 203,496            -                    -                   
Contingency/reserves -                   -                    -                   

Total expenditures 492,150            -                    -                   

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES (60,166)            26,787               90,618             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers (out) -                   (31,537)             (79,658)            

Total other financing sources (uses) -                   (31,537)             (79,658)            

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES (60,166)            (4,750)               10,960             

FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING OF YEAR
(AS ORIGINALLY REPORTED) 506,003            4,750                 100                  

Restatement of equity -                   -                    -                   

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR 445,837$          -$                  11,060$           

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Year Ended December 31, 2023
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Impact Fees Antelope Hills
Fund Fund Total

-$               289,480$       333,578$       
-                 -                 456,131         

70,407           5,015             124,582         
1,030,391      -                 1,030,391      
1,100,798      294,495         1,944,682      

-                 28,777           28,777           
-                 -                 288,654         

-                 324,901         324,901         
102,429         . 305,925         
165,723         -                 165,723         
268,152         353,678         1,113,980      

832,646         (59,183)          830,702         

(43,222)          -                 (154,417)        
(43,222)          -                 (154,417)        

789,424         (59,183)          676,285         

932,623         200,178         1,643,654      

(85,170)          -                 (85,170)          

1,636,877$    140,995$       2,234,769$    

See accompanying independent auditors' report.
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 Variance with
 Final Budget

Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES
Specific ownership tax 30,515$         30,515$         42,637$         12,122$          
Highway user tax 94,445           94,445 104,218 9,773
County road and bridge tax 198,460         198,460 219,027 20,567
Other taxes -                -                1,461 1,461
Motor vehicle registration fees 9,645             9,645 17,633 7,988
Investment income 6,150             6,150 47,008 40,858

Total revenues 339,215         339,215         431,984         92,769            

EXPENDITURES
Public works 214,215         288,654 288,654 -                  
Capital outlay 125,000         203,496         203,496         -                  

Total expenditures 339,215         492,150         492,150         -                  

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -$              (152,935)$     (60,166)         92,769$          

FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING OF YEAR 506,003         

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR 445,837$       

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO
 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN

FUND BALANCES  -  BUDGET AND ACTUAL 
ROAD AND BRIDGE FUND

Year Ended December 31, 2023

See accompanying independent auditors' report.
F5
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 Variance with
 Final Budget

Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES
Intergovernmental 17,440$         17,440$         24,635$         7,195$            
Investment income -                -                2,152 2,152              

Total revenues 17,440           17,440           26,787           9,347              

EXPENDITURES
Emergency reserves 17,440           -                -                -                  

Total expenditures 17,440           -                -                -                  

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES OVER
UNDER EXPENDITURES -                17,440           26,787           9,347              

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Transfers out -                (31,537)         (31,537)         -                  

Total other financing sources -                (31,537)         (31,537)         -                  

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -$              (14,097)$       (4,750)           9,347$            

FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING OF YEAR 4,750             

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR -$              

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO
 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN

FUND BALANCES  -  BUDGET AND ACTUAL 
CONSERVATION TRUST FUND

Year Ended December 31, 2023

See accompanying independent auditors' report.
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 Variance with
 Final Budget

Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES
Intergovernmental 69,525$         89,603$         90,618$         1,015$            

Total revenues 69,525           89,603           90,618           1,015              

EXPENDITURES
Emergency reserves 54,565           54,565           -                54,565            

Total expenditures 54,565           54,565           -                54,565            

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES OVER
UNDER EXPENDITURES 14,960           35,038           90,618           55,580            

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Transfers out (35,775)         (55,853)         (79,658) (23,805)           

Total other financing sources (35,775)         (55,853)         (79,658)         (23,805)           

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (20,815)$       (20,815)$       10,960           31,775$          

FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING OF YEAR 100                

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR 11,060$         

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO
 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN

FUND BALANCES  -  BUDGET AND ACTUAL 
OPEN SPACE FUND

Year Ended December 31, 2023

See accompanying independent auditors' report.
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Variance with

 Final Budget
Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES
Impact fees 701,580$       701,580$       1,030,391$    328,811$         
Interest income -                24,877           70,407 45,530             

Total revenues 701,580         726,457         1,100,798      374,341           

EXPENDITURES
Reserves 629,604         654,480         165,723 488,757           
Capital Outlay 112,500         254,500         102,429 152,071           

Total expenditures 742,104         908,980         268,152         640,828           

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER UNDER EXPENDITURES (40,524)         (182,523)       832,646         1,015,169        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Transfers out (583,160)       (583,160)       (43,222)         539,938           

Total other financing sources (583,160)       (583,160)       (43,222)         539,938           

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES (623,684)$     (765,683)$     789,424         1,555,107$      
 

932,623         

Restatement of Equity (85,170)         

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR  1,636,877$    

FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING OF 
YEAR (AS ORIGINALLY REPORTED)

 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES  -  BUDGET AND ACTUAL

IMPACT FEE FUND
Year Ended December 31, 2023

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO

See accompanying independent auditors' report.
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 Variance with
Original Final Budget
and Final Positive

Budget Actual (Negative)
REVENUES

Taxes
Property tax 270,825$       271,734$       909$              
Specific Ownership tax 15,000 17,746 2,746

Investment earnings 100 5,015 4,915
Building permits 939 -                 (939)               

Total revenues 286,864         294,495         7,631             

EXPENDITURES
 General government

Finance 13,815           28,777 (14,962)          
Debt service

Principal and interest 283,298         324,901 (41,603)          
Total expenditures 297,113         353,678         (56,565)          

DEFICIENCY OF REVENUES UNDER
EXPENDITURES (10,249)          (59,183)          (48,934)          

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Transfers in 14,061           -                 (14,061)          
Transfers out (14,061)          -                 14,061           

Total other financing sources -                 -                 -                 

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES (10,249)$        (59,183)          (48,934)$        

FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING OF YEAR 200,178

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR 140,995$       

Year Ended December 31, 2023

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO
 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN

FUND BALANCES  -  BUDGET AND ACTUAL
ANTELOPE HILLS GID FUND

See accompanying independent auditors' report.
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 Variance with
 Final Budget

Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES
Sales tax 1,529,150$      1,529,150$      1,480,945$     (48,205)$           
Intergovernmental -                  -                  1,513,000 1,513,000
Investment earnings 15,410 15,410 89,495 74,085

Total revenues 1,544,560        1,544,560        3,083,440       1,538,880         

EXPENDITURES
Current

Public works 1,545,462 1,545,462        176,908 1,368,554         
Capital outlay 112,500 3,352,500        3,232,767 119,733            
Debt service  
 Principal  360,300 360,300           359,800 500                   

Total expenditures 2,018,262        5,258,262        3,769,475       1,488,787         

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (473,702)$       (3,713,702)$    (686,035)        3,027,667$       

FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING OF YEAR 1,976,374       

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR 1,290,339$     

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO
 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN

FUND BALANCES  -  BUDGET AND ACTUAL
SALES TAX CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS FUND

Year Ended December 31, 2023

See accompanying independent auditors' report.
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 Variance with
 Final Budget

Original  Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES
Use taxes 320,000$         320,000$       661,178$       341,178$          
Intergovernmental -                  -                24,450 24,450
Investment earnings 270 270 70,210 69,940
Other 200 200 -                (200)

Total revenues 320,470           320,470         755,838         435,368            

EXPENDITURES
Capital outlay 200,000           489,265         319,326 169,939            
Debt service  
 Principal  and interest 215,900           215,900         219,100 (3,200)               

Total expenditures 415,900           705,165          538,426          166,739            

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER UNDER EXPENDITURES (95,430)           (384,695)       217,412         602,107            

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 230,120           230,120         230,120 -                    
Transfers out -                  -                (66,355)         (66,355)             

Total other financing sources (uses) 230,120           230,120         163,765         (66,355)             

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 134,690$         (154,575)$     381,177         535,752$          

FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING OF YEAR
(AS ORIGINALLY REPORTED) 1,043,245      

Restatement of Equity (31,738)         

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR 1,392,684$    
 

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO
 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN

FUND BALANCES  -  BUDGET AND ACTUAL
USE TAX CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS FUND

Year Ended December 31, 2023

See accompanying independent auditors' report.
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Variance with
Original Final Budget

Original and Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES
Water sales 1,573,500$    1,573,500$    1,326,046$    (247,454)$         
Bulk water 990,275 990,275 200,533 (789,742)           
Water development fees and contributions 2,743,630 3,560,498 3,635,105 74,607              
Intergovernmental -                -                25,000 25,000              
Investment earnings 113,315 113,315 611,513 498,198            
Other -                -                182,468 182,468            
Transfers in 910,000 910,000 1,085,773 175,773            

Total revenues 6,330,720      7,147,588      7,066,438      (81,150)             

EXPENDITURES
Operations and maintenance 1,262,204  445,336 871,755  (426,419)           
Capital outlay 1,837,000      4,707,868      2,426,277      2,281,591         
Debt service -                    
 Principal and interest 204,431 204,431 560,525 (356,094)           
Operating transfers out 1,130,300 1,130,300 817,603 312,697            

Total expenditures 4,433,935      6,487,935      4,676,160      1,811,775         

CHANGE IN NET POSITION, 
   BUDGETARY BASIS 1,896,785$    659,653$       2,390,278      1,730,625$       

 
Reconcilation to GAAP Basis

Capital Outlay 2,426,277      
Depreciation (432,734)       
Debt service payments 370,136         

CHANGE IN NET POSITION, GAAP BASIS 4,753,957      

FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING OF YEAR 19,795,595    

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR 24,549,552$  

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO
 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN

FUND BALANCES  -  BUDGET AND ACTUAL
NON-GAAP BUDGET BASIS- WATER FUND

Year Ended December 31, 2023

See accompanying independent auditors' report.
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Variance with
Original Final Budget

Original and Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

REVENUES
Charges for services 1,517,175$    1,517,175$    1,329,232$    (187,943)$         
Wastewater development fees 1,981,040      1,981,040      1,756,485 (224,555)           
Intergovernmental 750,000         1,849,568      374,230         (1,475,338)        
Investment earnings 12,190           12,190           222,667 210,477            
Other 305,000         305,000         - (305,000) 
Operating transfers in 63,755           63,755           5,000 (58,755) 

Total revenues 4,629,160      5,728,728      3,687,614      (2,041,114)        

EXPENDITURES
Operations and maintenace 623,075 623,075 709,454 (86,379)             
Capital outlay 1,823,755      3,243,755      277,445         2,966,310         
Debt service
 Principal and interest 259,175         259,175         330,666 (71,491)             
Operating transfers out 195,465         195,465         220,300 (24,835)             

Total expenditures 2,901,470      4,321,470      1,537,865      2,783,605         

CHANGE IN NET POSITION, 
   BUDGETARY BASIS 1,727,690$    1,407,258$    2,149,749      742,491$          

Reconcilation to GAAP Basis
Capital Outlay 277,445         
Depreciation (471,675)       
Debt service payments 263,458         

CHANGE IN NET POSITION, GAAP BASIS 2,218,977      

FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING OF YEAR 12,872,214    

FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR 15,091,191$  

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO
 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN

FUND BALANCES  -  BUDGET AND ACTUAL
NON-GAAP BUDGET BASIS- WASTEWATER FUND

Year Ended December 31, 2023

See accompanying independent auditors' report.
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Form Approved

The public report burden for this information collection is estimated to average 380 hours annually.  OMB No. 2125-0032

City or County:
Town Of Bennett
YEAR ENDING :
December 2023

This Information From The Records Of (example - City of _ or County of _) Prepared By: Daniel Pennington
Town of Bennett Phone: 303-644-3249 ext:1024

A. Local B. Local C. Receipts from D. Receipts from
Motor-Fuel Motor-Vehicle State Highway- Federal Highway

Taxes Taxes User Taxes Administration
1. Total receipts available
2. Minus amount used for collection expenses
3. Minus amount used for nonhighway purposes
4. Minus amount used for mass transit
5. Remainder used for highway purposes

AMOUNT AMOUNT
A. Receipts from local sources: A. Local highway disbursements:

1. Local highway-user taxes 1. Capital outlay (from page 2) 3,532,037
a. Motor Fuel  (from Item I.A.5.) 2. Maintenance: 66,560
b. Motor Vehicle (from Item I.B.5.) 3. Road and street services:
c. Total (a.+b.) a. Traffic control operations

2. General fund appropriations b. Snow and ice removal
3. Other local imposts (from page 2) 1,742,609 c. Other 27,154
4. Miscellaneous local receipts (from page 2) 136,503 d. Total  (a. through c.) 27,154
5. Transfers from toll facilities 4. General administration & miscellaneous 274,183
6. Proceeds of sale of bonds and notes: 5. Highway law enforcement and safety

a. Bonds - Original Issues 6. Total  (1 through 5) 3,899,934
b. Bonds - Refunding Issues B. Debt service on local obligations:
c. Notes 1. Bonds:
d. Total (a. + b. + c.) 0 a. Interest 184,800

7. Total (1 through 6) 1,879,112 b. Redemption 175,000
B. Private Contributions c. Total (a. + b.) 359,800
C. Receipts from State government 2. Notes:

(from page 2) 564,925 a. Interest
D. Receipts from Federal Government b. Redemption

(from page 2) 0 c. Total (a. + b.) 0
E. Total receipts (A.7 + B + C + D) 2,444,037 3. Total  (1.c + 2.c) 359,800

C. Payments to State for highways
D. Payments to toll facilities
E. Total disbursements (A.6 + B.3 + C + D) 4,259,734

Opening Debt Amount Issued Redemptions Closing Debt
A. Bonds (Total) 5,328,179 175,000 5,153,179

1. Bonds (Refunding Portion)
B. Notes (Total) 0

A. Beginning Balance B. Total Receipts C. Total Disbursements D. Ending Balance E. Reconciliation
2,204,585 2,444,037 4,259,734 388,887 0

Notes and Comments:

FORM FHWA-536 (Rev.06/2000)           PREVIOUS EDITIONS OBSOLETE Excel (Next Page)
1

LOCAL HIGHWAY FINANCE REPORT

I. DISPOSITION OF HIGHWAY-USER REVENUES AVAILABLE FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT EXPENDITURE

ITEM

III. DISBURSEMENTS FOR ROAD

V. LOCAL ROAD AND STREET FUND BALANCE

ITEM

II. RECEIPTS FOR ROAD AND STREET PURPOSES

IV. LOCAL HIGHWAY DEBT STATUS

(Show all entries at par)

ITEM
AND STREET PURPOSES

{A6118523-F516-449C-9645-2F49C7F30798}.xls

G1
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STATE:
Colorado
YEAR ENDING (mm/yy):
December 2023

AMOUNT AMOUNT
A.3.  Other local imposts: A.4.  Miscellaneous local receipts:

a. Property Taxes and Assessments a. Interest on investments 136,503
b. Other local imposts: b. Traffic Fines & Penalities

1. Sales Taxes 1,480,945 c. Parking Garage Fees
2. Infrastructure & Impact Fees d. Parking Meter Fees
3. Liens e. Sale of Surplus Property
4. Licenses f. Charges for Services
5. Specific Ownership &/or Other 261,665 g. Other Misc. Receipts
6. Total (1. through 5.) 1,742,609 h. Other

c. Total (a. + b.) 1,742,609 i. Total (a. through h.) 136,503
(Carry forward to page 1) (Carry forward to page 1) 

AMOUNT AMOUNT
C. Receipts from State Government D. Receipts from Federal Government

1. Highway-user taxes 104,218 1. FHWA (from Item I.D.5.)
2. State general funds 2. Other Federal agencies:
3. Other State funds: a. Forest Service

a. State bond proceeds b. FEMA
b. Project Match c. HUD
c. Motor Vehicle Registrations 17,533 d. Federal Transit Admin
d. Other  (Specify) - CDOT Grant 443,174 e. U.S. Corps of Engineers
e. Other (Specify) f. Other Federal
f. Total (a. through e.) 460,707 g. Total (a. through f.) 0

4. Total (1. + 2. + 3.f) 564,925 3. Total (1. + 2.g)
(Carry forward to page 1) 

ON NATIONAL OFF NATIONAL
HIGHWAY HIGHWAY TOTAL
SYSTEM SYSTEM

(a) (b) (c)
A.1.  Capital outlay:

a. Right-Of-Way Costs 0
b. Engineering Costs 22,856 22,856
c. Construction:

               (1). New Facilities 0
               (2).  Capacity Improvements 0
               (3).  System Preservation 3,421,216 3,421,216
               (4).  System Enhancement & Operation 87,965 87,965
               (5).  Total Construction  (1) + (2) + (3) + (4) 0 3,509,181 3,509,181

d. Total Capital Outlay (Lines 1.a. + 1.b. + 1.c.5) 0 3,532,037 3,532,037
(Carry forward to page 1) 

Notes and Comments:

FORM FHWA-536
2

III. DISBURSEMENTS FOR ROAD AND STREET PURPOSES - DETAIL

II. RECEIPTS FOR ROAD AND STREET PURPOSES - DETAIL

LOCAL HIGHWAY FINANCE REPORT

ITEM ITEM

ITEM ITEM

G2
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED 

ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS  

To the Board of Trustees 
Town of Bennett, Colorado 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the 
governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining 
fund information of the Town, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023 and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise , the Town’s basic financial 
statements and have issued our report thereon dated July 23, 2024. 

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Town’s 
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s 
internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 
or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and 
corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough 
to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph 
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies may exist that were not identified. We identified a certain deficiency in internal 
control, described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as items 2023-
001 that we consider to be material weaknesses.
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Town’s financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with 
those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an 
opinion. The results of our testing disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that 
are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Town of Bennett, Colorado’s Response to Findings 

Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on the Town’s 
response to the findings identified in our audit and described in the accompanying schedule of 
findings and questioned costs. The Town’s response was not subjected to the other auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion 
on the response. 

Purpose of This Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 

Timnath, Colorado  
July 23, 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR 
PROGRAM  

AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE 
UNIFORM GUIDANCE  

To the Board of Trustees 
Town of Bennett, Colorado 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program  

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We have audited the Town of Bennett, Colorado’s (the Town) compliance with the types of 
compliance requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that 
could have a direct and material effect on each of the Town’s major federal programs for the year 
ended December 31, 2023. The Town’s major federal program is identified in the summary of 
auditors’ results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.  

In our opinion, the Town of Bennett, Colorado complied, in all material respects, with the types 
of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on its 
major federal program for the year ended December 31, 2023.  

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States  and the 
audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). 
Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report. 

We are required to be independent of the Town and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on 
compliance for each major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of 
the Town’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above.  

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the 
requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements 
applicable to the Town’s federal programs.
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an 
opinion on the Town’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards, and the 
Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not 
detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is 
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it 
would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the 
Town’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government 
Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the Town’s compliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. 

 Obtain an understanding of City of X, State Y’s internal control over compliance relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances 
and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform 
Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Town’s internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material 
weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 

Other Matters  

The results of our auditing procedures disclosed no instances of noncompliance which are required 
to be reported in accordance with the Uniform Guidance. 

Report on Internal Control over Compliance  

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control 
over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing 
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal 
control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on 
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a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control 
over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.  

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to 
identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our 
audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to 
be material weaknesses, as defined above.  However, material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not identified. 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, business-type activities, 
each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town as of and for the year 
ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the County’s basic financial statements. We have issued our report thereon dated July 
23, 2024, which contained an unmodified opinion on those financial statements. Our audit was 
conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the basic financial statements. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal 
awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by the Uniform Guidance and 
is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of 
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the basic financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with GAAS. In our opinion, 
the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation 
to the basic financial statements as a whole.  

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of 
our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the 
requirements of the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other 
purpose.  

 

Timnath, Colorado  
July 23, 2024  
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Assistance Pass-Through Passed Through
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Listing Indentifying Federal to 
Grantor/Program Title Number Number Expenditures Subrecipients
U.S. Department Of Interior
     Passed through the Colorado Department of Natural Resources-
     Colorado Parks and Wildlife
          Sport Fish Restoration 15.605 Fishing is Fun-CTGG1-

PMAA 2023*3642

275,973$         -$  

     Passed through the Colorado Department of Local Affairs
          Mineral Leasing Act 15.437 EIAF 9560 369,130           - 
               Total U.S. Department Of Interior 645,103           - 

U.S. Department Of Transportation
     Passed through Colorado Department of Transportation
          Highway Planning and Construction 20.205 STU 0704-248 

(23180)-304 Exit

1,102,486        - 

               Total U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 1,102,486        - 

U.S. Department Of Homeland Security
        Hazard Mitigation Grant 97.039 111,000           - 
               Total U.S. Department Of Homeland Security 111,000           - 

               Total Federal Financial Assistance 1,858,589$      -$  

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

Year Ended December 31, 2023

Page 6
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TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO 
NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023 
 

Page 7 

NOTE A - BASIS OF PRESENTATION  
 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) presents the 
activity of all federal award programs of the Town of Bennett, Colorado (the Town), for 
the year ended December 31, 2023. The information in this Schedule is presented in 
accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, 
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for 
Federal Awards (the Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule presents only a selected 
portion of the operations of the Town, it is not intended to and does not present the financial 
position, changes in net assets or cash flows of the Town. The Schedule includes federally 
funded projects received directly from federal agencies and the federal amount of pass-
through awards received by the Town through the State of Colorado or other non-federal 
entities. 
 

NOTE B -  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The Town’s summary of significant accounting policies is presented in Note 2 in the 
Town’s basic financial statements. Governmental funds account for the Town’s grant 
activity. Amounts reported in the Schedule for governmental funds are recognized on the 
modified accrual basis when they become a demand on current available federal resources 
and other program requirements are met. Available means collectible within the current 
period, or soon enough thereafter, to pay liabilities of the current period or when matured. 
The Town considers all revenue as available, if it is anticipated to be collected within one 
year after the financial statement date. Such expenditures are recognized following, as 
applicable, the cost principles in OMB A-87 or the cost principles contained in Uniform 
Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to 
reimbursement. Negative amounts shown on the Schedule, if any, represent adjustments or 
credits made in the normal course of business to amounts reported as expenditures in prior 
years. Therefore, some amounts presented in the Schedule may differ from amounts 
presented in, or used in the preparation of, the basic financial statements or reports to 
federal agencies. 
 

NOTE C - INDIRECT COSTS 
 
The Town has not elected to use the 10% de minimis indirect cost rate as allowed in the 
Uniform Guidance, Section 414. 
 

NOTE D - CONTINGENT LIABILITIES  
 

Although the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards is prepared to the best of the 
Town's knowledge and belief, amounts received or receivable from grantor agencies are 
subject to audit and adjustment by the grantor agencies, principally the federal government. 
Any disallowed claims, including the amount already collected, may constitute a liability 
of the applicable funds. The amount of expenditures which may be disallowed by the 
grantor, if any, cannot be determined at this time. The Town does not believe any 
disallowed costs will be material. 
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TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021 

Page 8 

Section I-Summary of Auditors’ Results 

Type of report the auditor issued on whether the 
  financial statements audited were prepared in Unmodified 
  accordance with generally accepted accounting 
  principles in the United States of America 

Internal control over financial reporting: 
 Material weakness(es) identified     X Yes No 
 
 Significant deficiency(ies) identified Yes     X None reported 

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?  Yes     X No 

Federal Awards 

Internal control over major federal programs:  
 Material weakness(es) identified? Yes     X No 
 Significant deficiency(ies) identified? Yes     X None reported 

Type of auditors’ report issued on compliance 
  For major federal programs: Unmodified 

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to 
  be reported in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)? Yes    X No 

Identification of major federal programs:  

AL Number  Name Of Federal Program Or Cluster 
   20.205  Highway Planning and Construction 

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type 
 and type B programs: $ 750,000 

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?  Yes      X No 
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Section II-Financial Statement Findings 
 
Finding 2021-001 

Material Weakness, Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

Criteria Or Specific Requirement: Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of these financial statements, in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

Condition: Certain proposed entries were identified by Town personnel when preparing for the 
audit. These entries were made to restate the beginning fund balance as of January 1, 2023 for the 
following reasons: 

 The Town did not record construction in progress for the amounts which were accrued at 
December 31, 2022. 

 The Town did not record an operating transfer for grants which had a matching requirement at 
December 31, 2022. 

Cause: The Town’s personnel were not familiar with the capital asset management system due to 
its recent implementation. In addition, the Town changed how unavailable revenue for grants was 
reported on the financial statements. 

Effect: Changes were required to be made to the beginning equity balances of the government-
wide activities and selected fund balances. 

Identification As A Repeat Finding: N/A  

Recommendation: We recommend that the Town continue to understand the intricacies of its 
accounting system. We also recommend that the Town return to the prior year’s method of 
accounting for grants. 

Views Of Responsible Officials: The Town concurs with the finding. 
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Reference Number   Summary of Finding        Status
  
 

No matters are reportable DRAFT
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RESOLUTION NO. 1019-24 

A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE 2023 AUDIT FOR THE TOWN OF BENNETT 

 

 WHEREAS, the Town retained Rae & Co., CPA, LLC, to perform an annual audit of the 

Town’s financial statements for the 2023 fiscal year; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Rae & Co., CPA, LLC has completed an audit of the Town’s financial 

statements for 2023; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees desires to accept the 2023 Audit for the Town of 

Bennett. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE 

TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO: 

 

Section 1. The Town Board of Trustees hereby accepts the 2023 Audit for the Town of 

Bennett prepared by Rae & Co., CPA, LLC, in essentially the same form as the copy of such Audit 

accompanying this resolution. 

 

INTRODUCED, READ AND APPROVED THIS 23rd DAY OF JULY 2024. 

 

                TOWN OF BENNETT, COLORADO 

 

       _________________________ 

       Whitney Oakley, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_____________________________ 

Christina Hart, CMC 

Town Clerk 
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New National Opioids Settlement: Kroger
Opioids Implementation Administrator
opioidsparticipation@rubris.com

Bennett town, CO
Reference Number: CL-790044

TO COLORADO LOCAL POLITICAL SUBDIVISIONS:
 

THIS PACKAGE CONTAINS DOCUMENTATION FOR COLORADO LOCAL
POLITICAL SUBDIVISIONS TO PARTICIPATE IN THENEW NATIONAL OPIOIDS

SETTLEMENT WITH KROGER. YOU MUST TAKE ACTION IN ORDER TO
PARTICIPATE.

Deadline:   August 12, 2024  

A new proposed national opioids settlement (“New National Opioids Settlement”)
has been reached with The Kroger Co.  (“Settling Defendant”). This  Participation
Package is a follow-up communication to the Notice of National Opioids Settlement
recently received electronically by your subdivision. 

You are receiving this Participation Package because Colorado is participating in the
Kroger settlement.

Thanks to the collaboration of Colorado’s counties and municipalities, Colorado 
maximized its settlement proceeds from previous opioid settlements, and we are 
now asking that you review and sign-on to this settlement so that Colorado can 
maximize its share of these funds.

All opioid settlement funds that are received as a result of the settlement will follow 
the same Colorado Opioid Settlement Memorandum of Understanding that was 
signed in 2021. Completing the participation forms does not change your decision 
to “opt-out” to direct funds to the Region, or to “opt-in” to receive your direct 
allocation. 

To review your Colorado local government decisions to receive or redirect funds, 
please see the Colorado Opioid Settlement Dashboard Local Government page at  :   
coag.gov/opioids/dashboard/local.

This electronic envelope contains: 

 The Participation Form for the Kroger settlement, including a release of any
claims. 

The  Participation  Form  must  be  executed,  without  alteration,  and
submitted on or before August 12, 2024, in order for your subdivision to
be considered for initial participation calculations and payment eligibility. 

Based upon subdivision participation forms received on or before August 12, 2024,
the subdivision participation rate will be used to determine whether participation is
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sufficient  for  the  settlement  to  move  forward  and  whether  a  state  earns  its
maximum  potential  payment  under  the  settlement.  If  the  settlement  moves
forward, your release will become effective. If a settlement does not move forward,
that release will not become effective. 

Any subdivision that does  not participate cannot directly share in the settlement
funds, even if the subdivision’s state is settling and other participating subdivisions
are sharing in settlement funds. Any subdivision that does not participate may also
reduce the amount of money for programs to remediate the opioid crisis in its state.
Please note, a subdivision will not necessarily directly receive settlement funds by
participating; decisions on how settlement funds will be allocated within a state are
subject to intrastate agreements or state statutes.

You are encouraged to discuss the terms and benefits of the New National Opioids
Settlement with your counsel, your Attorney General’s Office, and other contacts
within your state. Many states are implementing and allocating funds for this new
settlement the same as they did for the prior opioids settlements with McKesson,
Cardinal, Cencora (formerly AmerisourceBergen), J&J/Janssen, Teva, Allergan, CVS,
Walgreens, and Walmart but states may choose to treat this settlement differently.

Information  and documents regarding the  New National  Opioids Settlement and
how it is being implemented in your state and how funds will be allocated within
your  state  can  be  found  on  the  national  settlement  website  at
https://nationalopioidsettlement.com/. This  website  will  be  supplemented  as
additional documents are created.

How to return signed forms:

There are three methods for returning the executed  Participation Form and any
supporting documentation to the Implementation Administrator:

(1) Electronic  Signature  via  DocuSign:  Executing  the  Participation  Form
electronically  through  DocuSign  will  return  the  signed  form  to  the
Implementation  Administrator  and  associate  your  form  with  your
subdivision’s records.  Electronic signature is the most efficient method for
returning the  Participation Form, allowing for more timely participation and
the potential to meet higher settlement payment thresholds, and is therefore
strongly encouraged. 

(2) Manual  Signature  returned  via  DocuSign:  DocuSign  allows  forms  to  be
downloaded,  signed  manually,  then  uploaded  to  DocuSign  and  returned
automatically  to  the  Implementation  Administrator.  Please  be  sure  to
complete all fields. As with electronic signature, returning a manually signed
Participation Form via DocuSign will associate your signed forms with your
subdivision’s records.

(3) Manual Signature returned via electronic mail: If your subdivision is unable to
return  an  executed  Participation  Form using  DocuSign,  the  signed
Participation  Form may  be  returned  via  electronic  mail  to
opioidsparticipation@rubris.com.  Please  include  the  name,  state,  and
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reference ID of your subdivision in the body of the email and use the subject
line Settlement Participation Form – [Subdivision Name, Subdivision State] –
[Reference ID].

Detailed instructions on how to sign and return the  Participation Form, including
changing  the  authorized  signer,  can  be  found  at
https://nationalopioidsettlement.com. You  may  also  contact
opioidsparticipation@rubris.com.

The sign-on period for subdivisions ends on August 12, 2024. 

If you have any questions about executing the Participation Form, please contact 
your counsel, the Implementation Administrator at opioidsparticipation@rubris.com,
or the Colorado Attorney General’s Opioid Response Unit at Opioids@coag.gov or 
720-508-6904.

Thank you, 
 
New National Opioids Settlement Implementation Administrator

The  Implementation  Administrator  is retained  to  provide  the  settlement  notice
required by the New National Opioids Settlement and to manage the collection of
the Participation Form.
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Subdivision Participation and Release Form

Governmental Entity: Bennett town State: CO
Authorized Signatory: /officialname_kroger/
Address 1: /address1_kroger/
Address 2: /address2_kroger/
City, State, Zip: /cit_kr/                                     /state_kr/                       /zi_kr/
Phone: /phone_kroger/
Email: /email_kroger/

The governmental entity identified above (“Governmental Entity”), in order to obtain and
in consideration for the benefits provided to the Governmental Entity pursuant to the Settlement
Agreement dated March 22, 2024 (“Kroger Settlement”), and acting through the undersigned
authorized official,  hereby elects  to participate in the Kroger Settlement,  release all Released
Claims against all Released Entities, and agrees as follows.  

1. The  Governmental  Entity  is  aware  of  and  has  reviewed  the  Kroger  Settlement,
understands that  all  terms  in  this  Participation  and Release  Form have the  meanings
defined therein, and agrees that by executing this Participation and Release Form, the
Governmental  Entity  elects  to  participate  in  the  Kroger  Settlement  and  become  a
Participating Subdivision as provided therein. 

2. The Governmental Entity shall promptly, and in any event no later than 14 days after the
Reference Date and prior to the filing of the Consent Judgment,  dismiss with prejudice
any Released Claims that it has filed.  With respect to any Released Claims pending in In
re National  Prescription Opiate  Litigation,  MDL No.  2804,  the Governmental  Entity
authorizes  the  Plaintiffs’  Executive  Committee  to  execute  and  file  on  behalf  of  the
Governmental Entity a Stipulation of Dismissal with Prejudice substantially in the form
found at https://nationalopioidsettlement.com/.

3. The Governmental  Entity  agrees  to  the  terms  of  the  Kroger  Settlement  pertaining  to
Participating Subdivisions as defined therein. 

4. By  agreeing  to  the  terms  of  the  Kroger  Settlement  and  becoming  a  Releasor,  the
Governmental Entity is entitled to the benefits provided therein, including, if applicable,
monetary payments beginning after the Effective Date. 

5. The  Governmental  Entity  agrees  to  use  any  monies  it  receives  through  the  Kroger
Settlement solely for the purposes provided therein.  

6. The Governmental Entity submits to the jurisdiction of the court in the Governmental
Entity’s state where the Consent Judgment is filed for purposes limited to that court’s role
as  provided  in,  and  for  resolving  disputes  to  the  extent  provided  in,  the  Kroger
Settlement.   The Governmental Entity likewise agrees to arbitrate before the National

1
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Arbitration  Panel  as  provided  in,  and  for  resolving  disputes  to  the  extent  otherwise
provided in, the Kroger Settlement.

7. The Governmental  Entity  has  the right  to  enforce the Kroger Settlement  as provided
therein.

8. The Governmental Entity, as a Participating Subdivision, hereby becomes a Releasor for
all  purposes  in  the  Kroger  Settlement,  including  without  limitation  all  provisions  of
Section  XI  (Release),  and  along  with  all  departments,  agencies,  divisions,  boards,
commissions,  districts,  instrumentalities  of any kind and attorneys,  and any person in
their official capacity elected or appointed to serve any of the foregoing and any agency,
person, or other entity claiming by or through any of the foregoing, and any other entity
identified in the definition of Releasor, provides for a release to the fullest extent of its
authority.  As a Releasor, the Governmental Entity hereby absolutely, unconditionally,
and irrevocably covenants not to bring, file, or claim, or to cause, assist or permit to be
brought, filed,  or claimed,  or to otherwise seek to establish liability for any Released
Claims against any Released Entity in any forum whatsoever.  The releases provided for
in the Kroger Settlement are intended by the Parties to be broad and shall be interpreted
so as to give the Released Entities the broadest possible bar against any liability relating
in  any  way  to  Released  Claims  and  extend  to  the  full  extent  of  the  power  of  the
Governmental Entity to release claims.  The Kroger Settlement shall be a complete bar to
any Released Claim.

9. The Governmental Entity hereby takes on all  rights and obligations of a Participating
Subdivision as set forth in the Kroger Settlement.

10. In  connection  with  the  releases  provided  for  in  the  Kroger  Settlement,  each
Governmental  Entity  expressly  waives,  releases,  and  forever  discharges  any  and  all
provisions,  rights,  and benefits  conferred  by any law of  any state  or  territory  of  the
United  States  or  other  jurisdiction,  or  principle  of  common  law,  which  is  similar,
comparable, or equivalent to § 1542 of the California Civil Code, which reads:

General Release; extent.  A general release does not extend to claims that
the creditor or releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in his or
her favor at the time of executing the release that, if known by him or her
would have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor or
released party.

A Releasor  may  hereafter  discover  facts  other  than  or  different  from those  which  it
knows, believes,  or assumes to be true with respect to the Released Claims, but each
Governmental  Entity  hereby  expressly  waives  and  fully,  finally,  and  forever  settles,
releases and discharges, upon the Effective Date, any and all Released Claims that may
exist  as  of  such date  but  which  Releasors  do  not  know or  suspect  to  exist,  whether
through  ignorance,  oversight,  error,  negligence  or  through  no  fault  whatsoever,  and
which,  if  known,  would  materially  affect  the  Governmental  Entities’  decision  to
participate in the Kroger Settlement.

2
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11. Nothing herein is intended to modify in any way the terms of the Kroger Settlement, to
which Governmental Entity hereby agrees.  To the extent this Participation and Release
Form is interpreted differently from the Kroger Settlement in any respect, the Kroger
Settlement controls.  

I have all necessary power and authorization to execute this Participation and Release
Form on behalf of the Governmental Entity.

Signature: /signer_1_kroger/                                       

Name: /name_1_kroger/                                        

Title: /title_1_kroger/                                          

Date: /date_1_kroger/                                          

3
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Project: P0021302_01 

  

 

  

Town of Bennett - Bennett CO - Safety Building 

Security 

Client: Town of Bennett 

PTI Rep: Kris Chilton 

Contact: Adam Meis 

Proposal Date: 7/2/2024 
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Project Description & Investment 

Name: Town of Bennett - Bennett CO - Safety Building Security 

Site    Billing 
{Town of Bennett} Town of Bennett - Safety Building 

365 Palmer Ave 

Bennett 80102 

   Town of Bennett 

207 Muegge Way 

Bennett, CO 80102-8425 

US  

    

Paladin Technologies    Client Contact 

Kris Chilton 

P: 720-951-5394 

E: kchilton@paladintechnologies.com 

   Adam Meis 

P: 720-591-5443 

E: ameis@bennett.co.us 

Project Scope 

PACS: 

 

Installation of (1) Avigilon LifeSafety enclosure in upstairs IT Closet 

Installation of (9) HID Card readers and associated door contacts and REXs 

Installation of all associated access control cable 

Installation of electrified door hardware on the (9) CR doors 

 

IDS: 

Provide Avigilon and DMP integration license and configuration 

Installation of (1) DMP XR Series intrusion panel 

Installation of (4) DMP Keypads 

Installation of (1) Duress button at the reception desk 

Installation of (4) Bosch motion detectors 

Installation of (5) Bosch glass breaks 

DMP VirtualKeypad setup 

1 year of monitoring provided by PTI 

 

VSS: 

 

Use wall mount rack left over from Public Works. Adam Meis has the rack. 

Installation of (1) Avigilon 8TB server 

Provide (9) ACC7 ENT camera and SMART licenses 

Installation of (1) Avigilon multi-sensor camera 

Installation of (1) Avigilon bullet camera 

Installation of (3) Avigilon fisheye cameras 

Installation of (4) Avigilon outdoor cameras on building exterior 

Installation of (1) Network switch 
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Provided by Others: 

IP Scheme 

Conduit & pathways 

Door prep 

Wall rack provided by Adam Meis 

  

Town of Bennett - Bennett CO - Safety Building Security Summary 

Proposal Date: 7/2/2024 

This Quotation is confidential. Pricing is valid for 30 days unless otherwise noted.   

Currency: All Items quoted are in USD.   

Alarm Monitoring RMR Monthly Services (Month to Month) 

  

Item number Manufacturer part number Quantity Price Unit Rate Total Cost

PTI-3PMON.IP Standard Monitoring Service (IP Communication) 12 30.00$         Month/System 360.00$            

Subtotal 360.00$            

Tax

Total Monthly Price, 

Including Tax 360.00$        
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Financial Summary 

  

Summary Total

Security $76,336.07

Expense $14,469.68

Labor $24,820.00

Material $37,046.39

Total $76,336.07

* Plus Applicable Taxes
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Detailed Breakdown  

 

Item Type Part Number Description QTY Unit Price Extended 

Price
Material AC-LSP-16DR-MER-LCK Sixteen Door Mercury Dual Voltage Integrated Power 1 $1,256.30 $1,256.30

Material AC-MER-CONT-LP1502 Intelligent Controller, Linux Based with 2 doors, 1 $1,326.40 $1,326.40

Material AC-MER-CON-MR52-S3B 2 reader interface board 4 $729.89 $2,919.56

Material NP7-12 BATTERY 7 AMP 12 VDC 3 $30.48 $91.44

Material 20KTKS-T1-000000 Reader, Signo 20K, Pigtail, SEOS and Mobile Enabled 9 $383.40 $3,450.60

Material ACCESSPLENJKT1SHLD-500Composite Cable (18/4C, 22/2C, 22/4C, 22/3P), All OAS, 

(H91602.1/31965002), Yellow Jacket, 500'

5 $498.58 $2,492.90

Material DS160 REQUEST TO EXIT PIRS LIGHT GRY 9 $88.56 $797.04

Material N505AU-STDD Surface Mounting Armored Door Contact, 24" Lead,  1.75 to 

2.75" Gap, DPDT

9 $37.13 $334.17

Material XR150DNL-G XR150 Panel, 142 Zones, Dialer Network, 350-G Enclosure, 

50VA Transformer

1 $417.15 $417.15

Material AC-SW-LIC-DMPINTR-1PANEL-6-PAccess Control Manager, 6 Per Panel, License for DMP Intrusion 

Panel Integration

1 $293.90 $293.90

Material NP7-12 BATTERY 7 AMP 12 VDC 2 $30.48 $60.96

Material 7060-W Green LCD W/Shortcut Keys, White for all Panels 4 $105.58 $422.32

Material ISC-PDL1-W18G ISC-PDL1-W18G PIR Motion Detector (60 Ft Dual). 4 $78.58 $314.32

Material DS1101I BOSCH GLASS BREAK ROUND 25 FT 5 $42.22 $211.10

Material 18/4-500 Cable, 18/4C, Plenum, Non-Shielded, 500' 5 $177.15 $885.75

Material HUB2A Hold Up Button, Latching, DPDT, with 3 Solder Terminals 1 $25.70 $25.70

Expense PTI-Shop Supplies US Shop Supplies & Misc. Consumables 3 $642.86 $1,928.58

Material 7400-628 Electric Strike, Aluminum Jambs, Flat Face, 24VAC/DC, Fail 

Safe/Secure

1 $181.43 $181.43

Material 2005M3 SMART Pac III 1 $68.00 $68.00

Material 7400-628 Electric Strike, Aluminum Jambs, Flat Face, 24VAC/DC, Fail 

Safe/Secure

1 $181.43 $181.43

Material 2005M3 SMART Pac III 1 $68.00 $68.00

Material LCRX-10XG71-LL-26D Electrified Cylindrical Lock, Grade 1, Fail Secure, L Lever, L Rose, 

Less Cylinder, Deadlatch, Request to Exit, Non-Handed, Satin 

1 $1,083.43 $1,083.43

Material ETH4W4545-626-BB1168 Power Transfer Hinge, Heavy Weight, 4-1/2" X 4-1/2", 4-Wire, 

Satin Chrome

1 $117.15 $117.15

Material LCRX-10XG71-LL-26D Electrified Cylindrical Lock, Grade 1, Fail Secure, L Lever, L Rose, 

Less Cylinder, Deadlatch, Request to Exit, Non-Handed, Satin 

3 $1,083.43 $3,250.29

Material ETH4W4545-626-BB1168 Power Transfer Hinge, Heavy Weight, 4-1/2" X 4-1/2", 4-Wire, 

Satin Chrome

3 $117.15 $351.45

Material ENVR2-PLUS-8P8-NA Server, ENVR2 Plus, 8TB, Avigilon Control Center 1 $2,301.78 $2,301.78

Material ACC7-ENT ACC 7 Enterprise Edition camera license 9 $262.26 $2,360.34

Material ACC-ENT-SMART-1YR ACC Enterprise Smart Plan, 1 Year 9 $26.60 $239.40

Material 24C-H4A-3MH-270 3x 8MP H4 Multisensor Camera Module with 4mm lens 1 $2,053.25 $2,053.25

Material H4AMH-AD-PEND1 Outdoor pendant mount adapter, must order one of I 1 $156.43 $156.43

Material H4AMH-DO-COVR1 Dome bubble and cover, for outdoor surface- Clear 1 $156.43 $156.43

Material 2.0C-H6A-D1-IR Camera, 2MP, H6A, Indoor dome Camera, 2.8-12mm Lens 1 $830.83 $830.83

Material 8.0C-H5A-FE-DO1-IR 8.0 MP, H5A Fisheye Dome Camera, LightCatcher, Day 3 $742.89 $2,228.67

Material H5A-FE-MT-NPTA1 NPT Adapter for Fisheye 2 $58.66 $117.32

Material WLMT-1021 Mount, Pendant Arm, 20cm Long, 1.5 NPT 1 $87.00 $87.00

Material 4.0C-H6A-DO1 Camera, 4MP H6A Outdoor Dome Camera with 4.4-9.3mm Lens 4 $1,153.68 $4,614.72

Material GS116PP-100NAS Ethernet Switch, 16 Port, 183W PoE/PoE+ Gigabit 1 $350.98 $350.98

Material CAT6-500 Cable, 23/4p, Plenum, Cat6, 500' 5 $189.69 $948.45

Expense PTI-Subcontractor US Cable installation 7000 $1.43 $10,010.00

Expense PTI-Subcontractor US Lift 900 $1.43 $1,287.00

Expense PTI-Subcontractor US Electrician to hardwire power supply 600 $1.43 $858.00

Expense PTI-Shop Supplies US Shop Supplies & Misc. Consumables 120 $1.43 $171.60

Expense PTI-Freight US Freight 150 $1.43 $214.50

Labor DEN-Technician Security II Security Labor 180 $105.00 $18,900.00

Labor DEN-Field Engineer II Security Labor 8 $145.00 $1,160.00

Labor DEN-Project Manager I Security Labor 34 $140.00 $4,760.00
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Performance Items 

AutoCad Plans & Drawing Files No  Stub Ups & Back Boxes No 
Submittals No   Back Boxes No 
Permits No   Conduit No 
System Training No   Coring No 
Network Cabling & Infrastructure Yes   Fire Stopping No 
Telephone Line No   Patch & Touch-up Paint No 
120vac Power Yes   Door/Frame Preparation No 
Locking Hardware Yes   Construction Equipment No 
Lift/Boom Rental No   Fire Alarm Installation & Verification No 
     Fire Pull Station Installation & Verification No 

 Clarifications and Exclusions 

▪ Taxes are excluded unless specifically shown as included in the pricing summary. 

▪ All work to be completed during normal business hours (8:30am to 5:00pm, Monday to Friday, excluding 

Holidays) unless otherwise noted. 

▪ All prices quoted herein are valid for 30 days unless otherwise noted. 

▪ Any existing equipment, including cable, found to be faulty and in need of repair or replacement to ensure 

the proper installation and functioning of the equipment covered by this order may result in additional 

charges. 

▪ If installation workflow is delayed due to a lack of site readiness including but not limited to inaccessibility, 

incompleteness, or construction, then extra charges may apply. 

▪ Warranty Limitation. Unless otherwise specified, Paladin provides a one-year warranty on all parts and a 90-

day labor warranty. 
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Proposal Acceptance 

I have read the General Terms and Conditions (Appendix A) of the sale, understand them fully, and agree 

to abide by them. 

I hereby certify that I am authorized by my company to sign this agreement. Paladin Technologies is hereby 

authorized to perform the work as specified. 

  

Accepted By: Paladin Technologies  Proposal No. P0021302_01 
Accepted By: Town of Bennett 

 

Name: Kris Chilton  Name:  

Signature:   Signature:  

Title: Senior Account Executive  Title:  

Date: 7/3/2024  Date:  
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Appendix A - General Terms & Conditions 
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General Terms & Conditions – Additional Services 

2.2. Service Fee: You agree to pay annually in advance to Paladin Technologies (USA) Inc., its agents, or 

assigns, for monitoring and certain other services, the sum of dollars ($), on the 1st day of the billing period 

and each billing thereafter following connection of the System for an original term of twelve (12) months. In 

addition, you shall pay the pro-rata share of the service fee for the month in which the connection is 

completed, plus applicable taxes. Alarm inspections, tests and service are charged separately. See Item 6. 

2.3. Electronic Fund Transfer: Paladin Technologies (USA) Inc. offers electronic fund transfers and credit card 

payments. If you wish to subscribe to these services, please ask a Paladin Technologies (USA) Inc. 

representative for the Authorization Agreement. 

2.4. Renewal: This Agreement shall automatically renew for successive twelve (12) month periods unless either 

party notifies the other in writing of its intention to terminate this Agreement, not less than thirty (30) days 

prior to the expiration of the original term or any renewal term thereof. We may increase the monitoring 

fees for any renewal period by giving you thirty (30) days written notice prior to increase. 

 

3. MONITORING SERVICE 

Monitoring and response shall be performed as follows: (a) when an emergency signal is received from the System, 

the Center shall make every reasonable effort to notify the appropriate responding agency, notify the first available 

person on your responsible party list, and follow your written instructions, if any, for that type of signal; (b) when 

a non-emergency signal is received, the Center shall make every reasonable effort to notify the first available 

person on the responsible party list, and follow written instructions provided by you for that signal. The Center 

reserves the right to verify all signals by using the two-way voice or video verification feature, (if available), by 

telephone or other method before notifying any responding agency. The Center may choose not to notify any 

agency if it has reason to believe that the signal received does not require such notification. Both Parties are 

obligated to comply with all notification and response requirements imposed by governmental agencies having 

jurisdiction over the System. We may discontinue or change any particular response service due to governmental 

or insurance requirements by giving you written notice. If your police or fire department now or in the future 

requires physical or visual verification of an emergency condition before responding to a request for assistance, 

you agree to subscribe to such service if provided by us at a commercially reasonable rate, or otherwise comply 

with such requirements, and we may charge an additional fee for such service. The city or county in which your 

premise is located may require that you obtain a permit for the use and monitoring of the System. Local authorities 

may not respond to alarm notifications until all permits or licenses for use of the System have been obtained. You 

consent to the tape recording of all telephonic communications between you, your premise and the Center. You 

agree that personnel at the Center and other employees may only be conversant in the English language and may 

not be able to communicate in other languages. 

 

4. CANCELLATION: TERMINATION 

4.2. **If the Subscriber breeches any provision of this Agreement, upon 30 days written notice to Subscriber’s 

address, Paladin Technologies (USA) Inc. may immediately interrupt and/or terminate service without any 

liability. At its sole discretion, Paladin Technologies (USA) Inc. may restore such interrupted or terminated 

service following the correction of violation and/or payment issues. 

4.3. **We assume no liability for interruption of monitoring service due to strikes, riots, floods, storms, 

earthquakes, fires, power failures, your actions, interruption, or unavailability of telephone service, acts of 

God, war, or for any other cause beyond our control, and we will not be required to supply alternate monitoring 

services/methods during such interruption. This Agreement may be suspended or cancelled, at our option, if 

your premise and/or equipment, or the Center is destroyed by fire, other catastrophe, or so substantially 
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damaged that it is impractical to continue service, or in the event we are unable to render service as a result 

of any action by any governmental authority and/or insurance requirements. 

4.4. Service Callout Always Required to Restore or Terminate Alarm Services: Termination or restoration of 

monitoring service for any reason requires a service call in the amount of $ to eliminate or re-establish the 

Center reporting feature programmed in the System. Upon termination of monitoring service, you hereby 

authorize us to enter your premise for the sole purpose of removing the reporting feature programmed in the 

System and to remove all of our signs, decals and equipment. Monitoring service fees will continue to be billed 

until this mandatory service call is completed. 

4.5. False/Excessive Unwanted Signals: In the event a fine, penalty, or fee is assessed against us by any 

governmental or municipal agency as a result of any alarm signal originating from your premise, and no alarm 

condition exists, you agree to reimburse us for same. In the event your System transmits an unusually high 

volume of false/unwanted signals, you authorize us to enter your premise for the sole purpose of removing 

the reporting feature programmed in the System. We reserve the right to charge additional fees associated 

with false and excessive unwanted signals. 

 

5. DISCLAIMER OF LIABILITY 

We do not represent or warrant that the System or services will prevent any loss or injury due to burglary, hold 

up, fire, or otherwise, or that the System or services will in all cases provide the protection for which they are 

intended. You acknowledge and agree that: (a) we have made no representations or warranties, express or implied, 

as to any matter whatsoever, nor have you relied on any representations or warranties express or implied; (b) you 

assume all risk of loss or damage to your premise or to the contents thereof; and assume all risk of injury (including 

personal injury or death) to persons using or on the premise. We make no representation or warranty as to the 

promptness of the Center's response, and we have no control over the response time or capability of any agency 

or person who may be notified as a result of the System or services being used. You acknowledge that: (a) you 

should obtain insurance for the protection of yourself and others who may use the System and services, (b) you 

have read and understood all of this Agreement, particularly paragraphs 11 and 12 which set forth our maximum 

liability in the event of any loss, injury or damage to you or anyone else; and (c) you have discussed paragraph 11 

with our agent and understand that you may obtain a higher limitation of our limited liability by paying an additional 

service fee to us. 

 

6. YOUR DUTIES 

You shall carefully and properly test the System periodically, but not less than monthly, during the term of this 

Agreement. Some Systems may require daily or weekly testing. If the System includes fire protection, you agree 

to perform or permit us to perform all necessary inspections, tests, and service, and if performed by us, you agree 

to pay for all such inspections, tests and service at our then prevailing rates. If any defect in operation of the 

System develops, or in the event of a power failure or other interruption at your premise, you shall notify us 

immediately. You shall notify us in writing of any changes, revisions or modifications to the responsible party list 

or written instructions provided to us for signal handling. At your expense you shall obtain all necessary permits 

and licenses that may be required by any governmental agency for the use and operation of the System. When 

any device is used, including but not limited to space detection which is affected by the turbulence of air, occupied 

air space change or other disturbing conditions, you shall turn off and remove all things, animate or inanimate, 

including but not limited to all forced air heaters, air conditioners, animals and other sources of air turbulence or 

movement which may interfere with the effectiveness of the System during the closed period. You agree that we 

may disclose any information on the responsible party list to any agency having jurisdiction over the use and 

operation of the System. If the System includes any wireless devices, you will replace the batteries as needed. 

Failure to do so may result in failure of the System. 
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7. TRANSFER OF OWNERSHIP 

You cannot sell, assign or transfer this Agreement without our written consent, and any and all permitted 

assignments shall include a requirement that any assignee will agree to abide by the terms and conditions herein. 

In the event a change in ownership is pending, you shall inform us in writing fourteen (14) days prior to such 

change becoming effective. All changes shall be provided via Certified Mail. 

 

8. DEFAULT 

If you fail to pay any amount due, file petition in bankruptcy, receivership or insolvency; if you make any assignment 

for the benefit of creditors, or fail to perform any other provisions hereof; we shall have the right and may exercise 

any or all of the following remedies: (a) recover all the past due amounts from you and continue to monitor the 

System, in which case we shall be entitled to recover the monthly amount due under the contract for said services; 

or (b) discontinue service upon five (5) days written notice and recover all sums we may be entitled to under the 

law. In addition, a late payment fee of 1.5% (or the maximum interest rate permitted by law whichever is less) 

per month may be applied to your account if periodic invoices are not paid by the due date. The late payment fee 

is for costs associated with the late payment and shall not be deemed an interest payment. You agree to pay a fee 

of $25.00 for any check EFT or ACH transaction returned unpaid by a financial institution for any reason. A 

minimum-handling fee of $5.00 may be assessed to cover costs for rebilling and mailing statements. We may 

request payment by money order, cashier’s check, or similar form of secure payment at our discretion at any time. 

If we retain the services of a collection agency or an attorney to assist in remedying your breach of this Agreement 

including, but not limited to, non-payment of charges herein, you shall be liable for and agree to pay all expenses 

associated to collections, including attorney’s fees. 

 

9. ASSIGNEES AND SUBCONTRACTORS 

We shall have the right to assign this Agreement to any other person, firm, or corporation without notice to you 

and shall have the further right to subcontract any services, which we may perform. Upon our assignment of this 

Agreement, our obligations shall terminate. You acknowledge that this Agreement, and particularly those 

paragraphs relating to our limited liability and third-party indemnification, inure to the benefit of and are applicable 

to any assignees, and/or subcontractors and the work they perform, and that they bind you with respect to said 

assignees, and/or subcontractors with the same force and effect as they bind you to us. 

 

10. TRANSMISSION FACILITIES 

Means to transmit alarm signals to a receiving station shall conform to the requirements of applicable codes and 

the local authority having jurisdiction. 

 

10.2. Standard Telephone Service: The communicator maybe connected to your standard landline telephone 

service. The System will not work on standard cellular telephone service. You will pay for all telephone charges 

including any installation fee for a special jack to connect the System to your telephone service. We 

recommend the use of an RJ31X or equivalent telephone jack to give the System priority over other telephones 

on your premise; however, when the System is activated, you will be unable to use your telephone to make 

other calls (such as calls to the 911 emergency operator), and therefore, you may wish to have the System 

connected to a second telephone line. You agree to reimburse us for any costs we may incur to reprogram 

the System’s communication devices because of area code changes or other dialing pattern changes. 

10.3. Internet Transmission: The communicator may be connected to the Internet. In order for the System to 

transmit signals, it must have uninterrupted access to an Internet connection. We make no representations 

or warranties as to how fast a signal will be received at the Center, because signal transmission speed may 

be adversely affected by Internet traffic or other causes beyond our control. You further acknowledge that 
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signals are transmitted over the Internet, which is wholly beyond our control and is maintained and serviced, 

solely by the applicable Internet service provider. 

10.4. Cellular or Radio Transmission: If cellular or radio service is used as a primary or secondary transmission 

path, the communicator is connected to a cellular or radio network. The use of cellular or radio systems may 

be controlled by the public utilities agency of your state, and the Federal Communications Commission and 

changes in rules, regulations and policies may necessitate our discontinuing or changing such transmission 

facilities at our option. Cellular or radio transmissions may be impaired or interrupted by atmospheric 

conditions, including electrical storms, power failures or other conditions and events beyond our control. 

10.5. **The use of DSL, BPL, VoIP or other broadband or Internet-based telephone service may prevent the 

System from transmitting alarm signals to the Center, after it is installed or at any time in the future, and/or 

interfere with the telephone line-seizure feature of the System. Such services should be installed on a 

telephone number that is not used for alarm signal transmission. You agree to notify us if you have installed 

or intend to install DSL, VoIP, BPL or other broadband or Internet service. Immediately after the installation 

of DSL, VoIP, BPL, or other broadband or Internet service you must test the System's signal transmission with 

the Center. 

11. Paladin Technologies (USA) Inc. is not an insurer; Limitation of Liability: You understand that: (a) we are not 

an insurer of your premise, property or the personal safety of persons on your premise; (b) you are solely 

responsible for providing any life, health or disability insurance for yourself and persons who use the System, 

and insurance on your premise and its contents; (c) the amount you pay to us is based only on the value of 

the service we provide and not on the value of your premise or its contents; (d) alarm systems and monitoring 

service may not always operate properly for various reasons; (e) it is difficult to determine in advance the value 

of the property that might be lost, stolen or destroyed if the System or our service fails to operate properly; 

(f) it is difficult to determine in advance how fast the police or fire department or others would respond to an 

alarm signal; and (g) it is difficult to determine in advance what portion, if any, of any property loss, personal 

injury or death would be proximately caused by our failure to perform, our negligence, or a failure of the 

System or service. Therefore, you agree that even if a court decides that our breach of this Agreement, or a 

failure of the System, or our negligence, or a failure of the installation or design of the System, or a failure of 

monitoring or repair service caused or allowed any harm or damage (whether property damage, personal). 
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General Terms & Conditions – Additional Services 

1. DEFINITIONS AND ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

“Customer” means the party named as Client in the attached Project Description & Investment document. 

“Paladin Technologies” means Paladin Technologies (USA) Inc. 

“Paladin Goods and Services” means the goods and services described in the attached Project Description & 

Investment document and any schedules attached by Paladin Technologies. 

“Quotation” means the agreement between Paladin Technologies and the Customer, comprised of the attached 

Project Description & Investment document, any schedules attached by Paladin Technologies, and these General 

Terms and Conditions. 

“Site” means the site for the work listed in the attached Project Description & Investment document. 

This Quotation may be accepted by the Customer by either signing where indicated in the attached Project 

Description & Investment document or by issuance to Paladin Technologies of a purchase order or similar 

document, which will constitute acceptance of these terms and conditions. This Quotation represents the entire 

agreement between the Customer and Paladin Technologies. No change, modification, amendment, or other 

agreement about this Quotation will be binding on Paladin Technologies unless agreed to in writing by an authorized 

Paladin Technologies representative. No Paladin Technologies sales agent or representative is authorized to make 

any representations, warranties, or agreements, or to bind Paladin Technologies in any way, except for the 

representations, warranties and obligations provided for in this Quotation. The laws of the jurisdiction where the 

Site is located, including builders’ lien legislation, will apply to this Quotation and Paladin Technologies will have all 

rights of a contractor under such builders’ lien legislation. 

 

2. WARRANTY 

Paladin Technologies warrants that the services provided by Paladin Technologies and its employees and 

subcontractors as part of the Paladin Goods and Services will be free from defects in design or workmanship for a 

period of one (1) year from the date of completion of the installation, provided that: 

(a) the installation remains in ‘as installed’ condition, without any damage, abuse, modification, addition, or 

alteration by the Customer or any other party; and 

(b) all regular maintenance and inspections as recommended by Paladin Technologies have been performed. 

In the event of any defects in such services, Paladin Technologies will immediately upon notification by the 

Customer make the necessary repairs, at no cost to the Customer. 

Paladin Technologies does not make any representation or warranty regarding any goods or equipment forming 

part of the Paladin Goods and Services; however, Paladin Technologies will assist the Customer to enforce all 

manufacturers’ warranties applicable to such goods and equipment. On-site service charges may apply in 

connection with such assistance. 

Prior to returning any goods or equipment, a Return Material Authorization (RMA) form must be completed and 

can be obtained by contacting service@paladintechnologies.com. Shipping, handling, administration, and/or 

insurance charges may apply for Paladin Technologies to facilitate product RMA returns and manufacturer repairs. 
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Except as expressly provided in this Warranty section, Paladin Technologies disclaims all warranties, expressed, 

implied or statutory, in relation to the Paladin Goods and Services and/or any other goods or services provided by 

Paladin Technologies to the Customer pursuant to this Quotation, and all such statutory or implied warranties are 

hereby waived and excluded. 

 

3. PRICING AND PAYMENT TERMS 

All pricing provided for in this Quotation is a best estimate only, based upon the information available at the time 

of quoting. Pricing is valid assuming completion of supply of the Paladin Goods and Services within one (1) year 

from the date of this Quotation. All prices and charges for the Paladin Goods and Services are subject to change 

due to Site, environmental, economic, and other conditions, including without limitation currency exchange 

fluctuations and pricing changes by suppliers, and may be modified as determined by Paladin Technologies from 

time to time. 

On approved credit (“O.A.C.”), all charges must be paid in full, without any offset, deduction, or delay within thirty 

(30) days of the date of an invoice. Credit privileges may be revoked at any time at the sole discretion of Paladin 

Technologies Credit Department or Senior Finance Executives. Interest will apply at 1.5% per month (18% per 

annum) on any amounts which are not paid in full within such thirty (30) day period, calculated from the date that 

the invoice was originally issued. A fee of twenty-five percent (25%) of the applicable price provided in this 

Quotation will be charged for any product returns, if they are returned in their original and unopened packaging 

within fifteen (15) days of delivery. The Customer will be responsible for, and will pay on demand, all costs incurred 

by Paladin Technologies in connection with the enforcement of the terms of this Quotation including, but not limited 

to, travel expenses, court costs, collection agent costs, litigation costs and all legal fees incurred by Paladin 

Technologies. 

All applicable federal, provincial, state, and/or local taxes are payable in addition to the pricing in this Quotation. 

For travel outside the municipal boundaries of the cities in which a Paladin Technologies office is located, the 

applicable hourly charge per Paladin Technologies personnel member and $1.25 per kilometer per vehicle will be 

charged from the point of origin to the Customer’s Site and return. Where applicable, airfare costs will be billed in 

addition to the hourly personnel charge. 

Incidentals such as freight, disposal fees, equipment rental fees for non-Paladin Technologies owned equipment, 

per diem/meals, accommodations, parking and airfare will be charged at cost plus ten (10%) percent, where 

applicable. The Paladin Technologies Bucket Truck rental will be charged out at One Hundred and Twenty-Five 

($125.00) dollars per hour with a two (2) hour minimum. 

Paladin Technologies may delay or discontinue the Paladin Goods and Services and/or terminate this Quotation 

without any liability or obligation whatsoever to Customer if (a) any equipment or component of the Customer’s 

system is altered, modified, changed or moved without written authorization from Paladin Technologies; (b) the 

Customer defaults under any agreement with Paladin Technologies, including without limitation any default in 

payment under this Quotation; (c) Paladin Technologies’ business and/or operations are disrupted or adversely 

affected due to causes beyond Paladin Technologies’ reasonable control; (d) goods, labour, transportation and/or 

capital are not readily available; and/or (e) the Customer is or becomes bankrupt, insolvent, makes an assignment 

for the benefit of its creditors, fails to pay its debts as due, and/or otherwise suspends its business operations. The 

Customer may not terminate this Quotation unless Paladin Technologies has failed to fulfill its obligations hereunder 

for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice from the Customer. In the event Customer terminates this 

Quotation for any reason, the Customer will indemnify Paladin Technologies and save it harmless from any and all 
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losses, costs and expenses associated with such termination, including, but not limited to loss of profit, lost 

opportunities, direct, consequential, and incidental damages, and injury to goodwill and reputation. 

 

4. CREDIT APPROVAL 

Paladin Technologies’ obligations under this Quotation are always subject to Paladin Technologies’ Credit Policy 

(“Credit Policy”) and the approval by Paladin Technologies’ Finance department, at its sole discretion. If credit is 

not approved, alternative full or partial prepayment methods may be required to proceed. The Customer specifically 

consents to the collection and use by Paladin Technologies of Customer credit and financial information, including 

the Customer’s credit file with any credit reporting agencies. 

 

5. SITE ACCESS AND CONDITION 

The Customer must provide Paladin Technologies and its personnel and subcontractors with access to the Site as 

and when required, and the Customer is responsible for ensuring that the Site is a safe workplace in conformity 

with all applicable workers’ compensation and workplace safety laws and regulations. 

 

6. RISK 

All risks and liability for loss or damage to any goods or equipment forming part of the Paladin Goods and Services 

will immediately pass to the Customer upon delivery to the Customer or to its carrier. Notwithstanding such passage 

of risk, in default of payment Paladin Technologies may, without limiting its other rights and remedies, remove 

from the Site any Paladin Goods and Services which have not been paid for in full. 

 

7. SCHEDULE AND DELAYS 

Paladin Technologies will make commercially reasonable efforts to meet the scheduled dates for delivery or 

installation of the Paladin Goods and Services provided for in this Quotation, subject always to actions, omissions 

or delays of others or other circumstances beyond the reasonable control of Paladin Technologies. Under no 

circumstances will Paladin Technologies have any liability or obligation to the Customer or to any other person for 

any loss or damage resulting from any delay unless such delay was caused solely by Paladin Technologies’ breach 

of this section. 

 

8. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS 

Paladin Technologies and the Customer are independent contractors, and neither will be considered to be the 

agent, representative, master or servant of the other party for any purpose whatsoever. Nothing in this relationship 

will be construed to create a joint venture, partnership, fiduciary or other similar relationship between the parties. 

 

9. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY 

Under no circumstances, including any breach by Paladin Technologies of its obligations under this Quotation, any 

breakdown or non-performance of any equipment or system forming part of the Paladin Goods and Services, or 

any negligence by Paladin Technologies or any of its employees, agents or subcontractors, will Paladin Technologies 

or any of its officers, directors, employees, shareholders or representatives have any liability to the Customer or 

any of the Customer’s officers, directors, employees, shareholders or representatives for any loss, costs, or 

damages in excess of the aggregate of the amounts actually received by Paladin Technologies from the Customer 

pursuant to this Quotation, regardless of the form of action or the basis for the claim. 

 

10. CONFIDENTIALITY 

This Quotation and its terms, including all pricing terms and the system design, as well as any other information, 

material or documents provided to the Customer by Paladin Technologies either prior to or after this Quotation has 
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been signed (collectively, “Confidential Information”) are to be kept strictly confidential by the Customer and its 

employees and agents. No disclosure of any Confidential Information may be made to anyone outside the 

Customer’s organization (other than to its professional advisors or as the Customer may be legally obligated to 

make) without the prior written consent of Paladin Technologies. 
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